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BOLIDEN 
At a G l a n c e 

F o u n d e d i n 1924, B o l i d e n L i m i t e d is today an integrated m i n i n g a n d s m e l t i n g c o m p a n y w i t h operations o n 

f o u r cont inents . T h e C o m p a n y a n d its subsidiaries ( B o l i d e n ) are engaged i n the m i n i n g , process ing a n d sale 

o f metals a n d m i n e r a l p r o d u c t s , w i t h a p r i m a r y focus o n z i n c a n d c o p p e r . B o l i d e n has m i n i n g a n d m i l l i n g 

operat ions i n C a n a d a , C h i l e , S a u d i A r a b i a , S p a i n a n d S w e d e n , a n d s m e l t i n g a n d r e f i n i n g operat ions i n 

N o r w a y and S w e d e n . B o l i d e n is also engaged i n the fabricat ion a n d sale o f copper t u b i n g and brass products 

w i t h fabr icat ion facilities i n B e l g i u m , the N e t h e r l a n d s , S w e d e n a n d the U n i t e d K i n g d o m . I n 1997, B o l i d e n 

establ ished its h e a d off ice i n T o r o n t o , a n d was i n c o r p o r a t e d as a C a n a d i a n c o m p a n y . T h e C o m p a n y ' s 

c o m m o n shares arc listed o n the T o r o n t o and M o n t r e a l stock exchanges u n d e r the s y m b o l B O L . 

P R O F I L E S 

M i n i n g B o l i d e n produces z inc, copper, gold, lead 

and silver f rom 14 mines organized into 

eight m i n i n g areas. Its m i n i n g and m i l l i n g 

operations are located i n Canada, C h i l e , 

Saudi Arabia , Spain, and Sweden. M i n i n g 

accounted for about 26% o f Bol iden 's 

revenues in 1998. 

S m e l t i n g Boliden's smelting operations consist o f 

the Ronnskar copper, lead and precious metals 

metallurgical c o m p l e x and the Bergsoe 

secondary lead smelter, both located i n 

Sweden, and the 5 0 % - o w n e d N o r z i n k zinc 

smelter i n N o r w a y . Smelt ing accounted for 

about 5 0 % o f Bol iden's revenues i n 1998. 

F a b r i c a t i o n B o l i d e n produces copper tubing i n B e l g i u m 

and Sweden, and brass products i n Sweden, 

the Netherlands and the U n i t e d K i n g d o m . 

Fabrication accounted for about 24% o f 

Bol iden 's revenues i n IQ08. 

1999 m a r k s B o l i d e n ' s 75th Year 

in O p e r a t i o n 

^ Corporate Office 
T Fabrication 
• Mines 
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• Exploration Properties 

H I G H L I G H T S O F T H E Y E A R F I N A N C I A L P E R F O R M A N C E 

Tail ings dam failure at Los Frailes o n A p r i l 25 was cleaned 

up by late N o v e m b e r ; permitt ing for start-up expected 

i n first quarter o f 1999. 

C o m m e r c i a l start-up o f Lomas Bayas o n September r. 

Encouraging dr i l l results at S i m o n zone o f Renstrom 

mine , Marshal l zone o f M y r a Falls operations and 

Einarsson zone o f Krist ineberg mine . 

Temporary suspension o f activities at M y r a Falls to address 

challenging ground conditions; start-up scheduled for 

A p r i l i , 1999. 
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Operating Income: 
Mining 
(in millions of US dollars) 

Mining operating income sharply impacted by weak commodity prices. 

11)98 operating income excludes %42.$ ?nillion provisions for 

Los Frailes. 

T w o - w e e k scheduled maintenance shutdowns at 

Ronnskar and N o r z i n k ; operating income reduced b y 

$12 m i l l i o n as a result. 

Increased annual product ion at all smelters, after taking 

into account planned maintenance shutdowns. 

Ronnskar +200 expansion commenced i n j u r y ; 

complet ion scheduled for mid-2000 at a cost o f 

$245 m i l l i o n . 

Operating Income: 
Smelting 
(in millions of US dollars} 

Smelting operating income down as a result of the planned 

inuintemmce shutdowns at Ronnskar and Norzink. 

Operat ing i n c o m e increased by 45% o n 

healthy European demand and higher 

product margins. 

Strong European economies provide 

encouragement for cont inuing healthy 

performance i n 1999. 

-
12.2 

Operating Income: 
Fabrication 

9-5 
8.S 

(in millions of OS dollars) 

1996 1997 1 9 9 

Fabrication contributed $12 2 million to total operating income in 



...AND APPLIED 
OUR STRENGTHS. 

Nineteen ninety-eight was an exceptionally active year for Boliden. In what was a difficult year for most 

mining companies as a result of dramatically weakened commodity p r i c e s , we also addressed a number 

of challenges and seized o p p o r t u n i t i e s , while maintaining our focus on enhancing the performance 

and value of our existing o p e r a t i o n s . 



MESSAGE TO 
SHAREHOLDERS 
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« Our primary objective since we became a publicly listed Canadian company has been to 

i grow Boliden into a first-tier, international mining and smelting company. Much of what we 

s have initiated and accomplished over the past year has supported this objective, including: 

3 • completing our acquisition of Westmin Resources Limited; 

• bringing the Lomas Bayas copper project in Chile into production on time and within budget; 

• initiating feasibility studies at both the Fortuna de Cobre project and the Lomas East 

deposit in Chile; 

• commencing the expansion of the Ronnskar smelter in Sweden; and 

• increasing reserves at the Aitik and Lomas Bayas mines and resources at most other oper­

ations through focused mine-site efforts. 

In what was already a challenging year as a result of weak base metal prices, Boliden also 

responded to and addressed a number of crucial operational issues, notably: 

• the failure of the tailings dam at the Los Frailes mine in Spain; 

• difficult ground conditions at the Myra Falls mine, which resulted in a temporary suspension 

of operations; and 

• closure of the Gibraltar mine, primarily due to continued low copper prices. 

As is evident from these events, 1998 has been a particularly busy year for the Company. It 

was a year in which we addressed challenges head-on and seized upon opportunities. We are 

confident that our initiatives and activities have positioned Boliden for enhanced operating 

performance, particularly when zinc and copper prices improve. 

M a r k e t R e v i e w 

Weak base metal markets were a dominant feature of 1998. Yet, the inherent value of these 

commodities has not diminished. Boliden's principal metals — zinc and copper - are 

indispensable commodities that support worldwide industries and infrastructure development. 



"Our objective is to focus on enhancing 

the performance and value of our 

operations within the context of the current 

economic environment and outlook for 

commodity prices. Our aim is to position 

Boliden for superior shareholder returns 

once commodity prices improve." 

Anders Billow 

President and Chief Executive Officer 



MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

The average London Metals Exchange (LME) price for zinc in 1998 was US$0.46 per 

pound compared with US$0.60 per pound in 1997 (five-year L M E average of US$0.49). The 

causes of today's low zinc prices are difficult to pinpoint. Clearly there is weakened demand 

in certain Asian economies, yet global zinc inventories continued to decline during the year, 

falling to approximately 3 3 0 , 0 0 0 tonnes (LME inventory levels) or approximately six to 

seven weeks consumption at the end of 1998. Since 1992, whenever zinc inventories were 

around these levels, prices have averaged in the range of US$0.50 to US$0.75 per pound. 

The average L M E price for copper in 1998 was US$0.75 P e r pound, compared to 

US$1.03 per pound in 1997 (five-year L M E average of US$1.04). Copper is currently trading 

at a 12-year low in current dollars, and less than a 50-year low in real dollars. The decline in 

the price of copper is a result of the combined effects of overcapacity and decreased regional 

consumption, particularly in Asia. Primarily as a result of the continued weakness in copper 

prices, Boliden closed its Gibraltar copper mine in British Columbia. 

At today's price levels, we believe there is significant room for improvement for both 

metals, with zinc showing stronger near-term potential. 

F i n a n c i a l R e v i e w 

Based on revenues of US$1.05 billion, Boliden reported a net loss in 1998 of US$75.7 mil ­

lion, or US$0.71 per share. By comparison, in 1997, the Company had revenues of 

US$i .20 billion and net earnings of US$81.8 million, or US$0.82 per share. Lower metal 

prices and the US$42.5 million in special provisions taken by the Company for the 

Los Frailes tailings dam failure were the two primary reasons for the sharp decline in earn­

ings during the year. The scheduled two-week maintenance shutdowns of the Ronnskar 

and Norzink smelters, which occur every three years, also impacted earnings. Cash flow 

from operations (before changes in non-cash operating working capital) for 1998 was 

US$2.7 million, or US$0.03 per share, compared with US$170.0 million, or US$1.71 per 

share in 1997. 



MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

W e s t m i n A c q u i s i t i o n a n d I n t e g r a t i o n 

The acquisition of Westmin Resources Limited (Westmin) was a critical step towards achiev­

ing Boliden's immediate and long-term growth objectives. Westmin's Myra Falls operation 

in British Columbia immediately enhanced both our production and reserves of zinc and 

copper. In Chile, Westmin's Lomas Bayas project immediately added to our copper reserves 

and enhanced our copper production significantly towards the end of the year. Also in 

Chile, the Fortuna de Cobre project provides substantial additional copper resources. With 

Lomas Bayas now in production, Boliden has operations on four continents, establishing the 

Company as a truly global, integrated mining, smelting and refining base metals producer. 

The Westmin acquisition is our platform for growth in the Americas. In order to 

maximize this opportunity, we needed to successfully integrate Westmin and Boliden. We 

believe that the combination of the two companies' cultures, expertise and resources creates 

a stronger company. Bringing these two companies together was one of our primary 

objectives in 1998 and we believe we made excellent progress. 

L o m a s B a y a s 

The Lomas Bayas copper project in Chile began commercial production on September 1, 

1998. During 1999, the project is expected to reach full production of 5 ,000 tonnes of 

copper cathode per month, or 6 0 , 0 0 0 tonnes per year. There is potential to increase produc­

tion by 5 0 % to 9 0 , 0 0 0 tonnes per year by developing the adjoining Lomas East deposit. This 

scenario will be given further consideration during the year as metallurgical testing at Lomas 

East is completed. With estimated cash operating costs of under US$0.50 per pound of cop­

per in the project's early years and estimated life-of-mine cash operating costs of US$0.54 

per pound of copper, Lomas Bayas is a low-cost producer and a competitive operation, even 

in the current depressed copper price environment. 

F o r t u n a de C o b r e 

At the Fortuna de Cobre deposit, located just three kilometres from Lomas Bayas, we 

have identified an in-pit mineral resource of approximately 848 million tonnes grading 

0 . 2 4 % copper. Although it is lower grade than Lomas Bayas, Fortuna de Cobre contains 

significant amounts of water-soluble copper, which has the potential to significantly reduce 

operating costs. A feasibility study was initiated to determine the optimum size and method 



MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

of expansion of combined operations at Lomas Bayas and Fortuna de Cobre. Given the 

current copper price and capital market environment, we have decided to postpone 

completion of the study, except for ongoing metallurgical testing, until the outlook for 

commodity and capital markets improves. Once the decision to proceed has been made, we 

expect that it wil l take no longer than nine months to complete the feasibility study. If 

Fortuna de Cobre is developed, we have an excellent opportunity to leverage our infra­

structure development and metallurgical experience from Lomas Bayas. 

M y r a F a l l s 

In December, we temporarily suspended production at the Myra Falls operation to address 

the increasingly challenging ground conditions within the Battle and Gap zones of the 

mine. An action plan is currently being implemented to carry out stope and access route 

rehabilitation and development. When this work is completed, we expect to achieve 

improved operating results and better working conditions for our employees. The mine 

is scheduled to be back in operation by April i , 1999 and is expected to move towards full 

production during the second quarter of 1999. 

R o n n s k a r E x p a n s i o n 

The planned expansion of the Ronnskar smelter and refinery by 100,000 tonnes of copper 

cathode per year by mid-2000 will bring Ronnskar's design capacity to 2 4 0 , 0 0 0 tonnes of 

copper cathode per year and is expected to reduce costs by approximately 2 5 % to 3 0 % . The 

estimated cost of the expansion is US$245 million, with a payback period of approximately 

six and a half years. Ronnskar is one of Boliden's core assets and is one of only three facilities 

in the world that recycles high margin electronic scrap. Its expansion wi l l reinforce 

Boliden's competitive strengths and offer an attractive rate of return. 

L o s F r a i l e s 

In Spain, the Los Frailes zinc mine owned by our subsidiary, Boliden Apirsa SL (Apirsa), 

reached its design capacity in the fourth quarter of 1997. Los Frailes has the capacity to 

process four million tonnes of ore, producing about 125,000 tonnes of zinc and three mil­

lion ounces of silver per year. Operations proceeded according to plan in the first quarter of 

1998. However, on April 25, 1998, a failure in the tailings dam at the mine resulted in the 

release of tailings and tailings water into the nearby Agrio and Guadiamar river channels and 

surrounding areas. Operations were immediately suspended. 



MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

Apirsa promptly assigned specific responsibilities to employees, and independent 

environmental consultants and engineers, to minimize the consequences of the spill. Local 

Spanish authorities acted swiftly in erecting barricades to divert the flow of contaminated 

water in the Guadiamar River away from Donana National Park, 45 kilometres downstream 

from the mine. These efforts were successful and the Park was not harmed. Our findings 

indicate that about 8 0 % of the tailings were deposited within 10 kilometres of the mine. As 

of late November, substantially all of the discharged materials have been collected and trans­

ported for safe and approved storage in the depleted Aznalcollar open pit located beside the 

Los Frailes mine. 

A n investigation into the cause of the tailings dam failure commissioned by Apirsa 

determined that the failure was caused by a shift in the geological formation 10 to 15 metres 

below the base of the dam. The stability of the tailings dam had been studied by independent 

consultants as recently as 1996, and had been inspected and monitored regularly since that 

time. N o signs of instability were detected prior to the failure. 

As of May 1, 1998, only five days after the spill, water-sampling studies indicated a 

return to near normal p H levels in the affected waterways. We are optimistic that the long-

term effects of the spill will not compromise the region's ecosystem. In addition, a study 

completed by a panel of international waste, soil and environmental scientists and engineers 

indicates that a large portion of the affected area wil l be suitable for its former uses, 

principally agriculture. 

Apirsa intends to restart production at the Los Frailes mine as soon as it receives the 

necessary permits from the Spanish governmental authorities. 

I would like to acknowledge the various Spanish governmental agencies and author­

ities, Boliden employees and numerous independent consultants for their tireless efforts 

aimed at minimizing the damage from the spill. 

E n v i r o n m e n t , H e a l t h a n d S a f e t y 

Environmental, health and safety issues are of paramount importance for Boliden. This year, 

we have published a comprehensive review of our environmental, health and safety policies, 

performance and objectives in a separate special report to ensure that all of our stakeholders 

are aware of Boliden's achievements in these areas. 



MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

E x p l o r a t i o n a n d D e v e l o p m e n t 

As a result of the current depressed base metals market, our short-term focus has shifted 

away from wide-ranging field exploration activities towards proving additional resources 

adjacent to our existing mines and infrastructure. We have had encouraging results over the 

past year. We have identified strong indications of additional mineralization at our 

Kristineberg and Garpenberg mines in Sweden and are poised to begin defining further 

resources adjacent to our Kristineberg, Garpenberg and Renstrom mines in Sweden and 

Myra Falls operations in British Columbia. 

Our business plan for future exploration and development sets out measurable goals 

and objectives. We intend to: 

• establish a io-year consolidated proven reserve life over the next five years, primarily adjacent 

to our currently operating mines; 

• carry out one new feasibility study and two new pre-feasibility studies every 12 months; and 

• continuously review acquisition opportunities and, when appropriate, undertake strategic 

acquisitions where strong operational synergies are achievable. 

F i n a n c e 

O n January 25, 1999, the Company announced a Cdn$223 million convertible preferred 

share rights offering to its shareholders. Terms of the offering are fully disclosed in the 

Company's prospectus dated February 23, 1999. Proceeds from the offering will be used to 

repay existing indebtedness and ultimately to finance the Ronnskar expansion. Trelleborg 

A B , which indirectly owns 4 2 . 9 % of our common shares, has agreed to subscribe for its 

pro-rata portion of the rights offering (Cdn$95-5 million) and has agreed not to sell or other­

wise dispose of its investment for a minimum of 180 days from the closing of the offering. 

T r e l l e b o r g A B 

Following an extensive review of its operations, Trelleborg A B announced in January 1999 

that it no longer considered Boliden to be a core asset. As a result, at its annual meeting on 

April 22,1999,Trelleborg intends to seek approval to dividend its Boliden common shares to 

its shareholders. The company intends to seek a secondary listing for its common shares on 

the Stockholm Stock Exchange to provide a market for its new shareholders. Boliden had 

previously been listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange from 1952 until 1988, when 

Trelleborg completed its acquisition of Boliden. 



MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS 

L o o k i n g A h e a d 

The current depressed base metals market has led us to devote more attention to our core 

assets: Ronnskar, Lomas Bayas and Boliden Area Operations. In the near term, the majority 

of our reduced capital expenditures will be directed at these assets. Any investment in these 

or other assets must offer an internal rate of return in excess of 15%, as exemplified by the 

Ronnskar expansion. In line with our increased focus on core operations, we are also con­

sidering strategic divestitures to streamline our operations and improve our balance sheet. 

As is the case with many investors, we are uncertain as to when Asia and other key 

regions of the world economy will rebound. In the interim, our objective is to focus on 

enhancing the performance and value of our operations within the context of the current 

economic environment and outlook for commodity prices. Our aim is to position Boliden 

for superior shareholder returns once commodity prices improve. 

In closing, I would like to thank all Boliden employees for their tremendous contri­

butions during the year. I would also like to thank our shareholders for their continued 

support in what has been an exceptionally challenging year for the Company. We intend to 

continue to manage Boliden with the goal of lowering our costs and reducing our expendi­

tures, while maximizing the return from our existing assets. In the near term, we will strive 

to reduce our debt level and to ensure the continued financial strength of the Company. 

Once commodity prices improve and our balance sheet is sufficiently strong, we will again 

investigate growth opportunities that offer strong synergies and complementary strengths. 

A N D E R S B T J L O W 

President and Chief Executive Officer 



Jan Petter Traaholt 

Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration 

and Chief Financial Officer 



WE INTEGRATED 
Integration is the key to a successful acquisition. 

It must be well managed so that we benefit from the expertise and resources 

of each company, and realize cost savings. 

The acquisition of Westmin Resources Limited strengthened Boliden considerably, provid­

ing the Company with an immediate increase in production, significantly enhanced reserves, 

an excellent platform for growth in the Americas and a true global presence. Through the 

integration process, Boliden has realized cost savings, and benefited from sharing expertise 

and resources. 

Boliden strengthened its management ranks with the appointment of former 

Westmin executive, Ken Stowe, as Senior Vice President, Mining Operations. In the field, 

former Garpenberg mine manager, Kjell Larsson, has been transferred to the position of 

mine manager at Myra Falls, where he is applying his expertise in heading up the project to 

carry out stope and access route rehabilitation and development at the mine. We have also 

gained valuable experience with solvent extraction-electrowinning technology. This process 

was used at Westmin's Gibraltar nunc, and is now a crucial component ol the cost competi­

tiveness of the Lomas Bayas mine. 

Boliden's financial strength provided the means to refinance Westmin's outstanding 

debt on more favourable terms. The Company was able to refinance Westmin's US$120 mil­

lion in 11% senior secured notes and Cdn$68.7 million of Class 'B ' preferred shares with a 

US$230 million term loan facility. The refinancing was negotiated with an international 

banking syndicate at a small margin above LIBOR. 

This overview of the Myra Falls 

Operations (MFO) shows the 

mine headframe, administration 

offices and 1.4-metre conveyor 

system. MFO will resume 

production in April 1999, upon 

completion of a three-month 

underground rehabilitation and 

development project. 



WE PRODUCED 
Lomas Bayas positions Boliden in the ranks 

of the world's low-cost copper producers, while providing a platform 

for future development in the Americas. 

The Lomas Bayas copper mine began commercial production on September r, 1998, on 

time and on budget. The mine has a design production capacity of 60,000 tonnes of L M E 

grade copper cathode per year. In the first four months of commercial operation to the end 

of 1998, the mine operated at approximately 7 0 % capacity due to high levels of chlorides 

and nitrates in the ore. These levels had not been considered in the original design and 

development of the project. Since production began, we have corrected the chloride 

problem and are currently addressing the nitrate situation. We expect to have the mine at 

full capacity by the end of 1999. 

Lomas Bayas is a low-cost copper mine. Estimated early year cash operating costs 

are below US$0.50 per pound of copper, and estimated life-of-mine cash operating costs are 

US$0.54 p e r pound of copper. As a core asset, Lomas Bayas has assisted Boliden in joining 

the ranks of the world's low-cost copper producers. It also represents Boliden's platform 

for future development in Chile. There is additional potential to increase production to 

90,000 tonnes per year by exploiting the adjoining Lomas East deposit. This scenario will be 

given further consideration once metallurgical testing is completed later in 1999 and com­

modity and capital markets improve. 

Since production began 

on September 1,1998, the 

Lomas Bayas SX-EW mine is 

expected to reach design 

capacity of 60,000 tonnes per 

annum by the end of 1999. 



" A s a core asset, Lomas Bayas has enabled 

Boliden to join the ranks of the world's low-

cost copper producers. It also represents 

Boliden's platform to future development in 

Chile. There is additional potential to increase 

production to 90,000 tonnes per year by 

exploiting the adjoining Lomas East deposit." 

Kenneth Stowe 

Senior Vice President, Mining Operations 





WE INVESTED 
Boliden is spending US$245 million to expand the Ronnskar smelter and refinery. 

By substantially increasing the smelter's production capacity, 

upgrading its technical components and lowering its operating costs, Boliden is 

reinforcing Ronnskar's status as a world class metallurgical complex. 

In July 1998, Boliden began construction at the Ronnskar metallurgical complex to upgrade 

and expand its facilities and increase its production capacity. The expansion is in line with 

our objective of maximizing the return from our existing assets. Given the current com­

modity price environment, we have determined that our core assets are to be the focus of 

capital expenditures and that investments we make must oiler an internal rate oi return 

in excess of 15%. Our goal is to position Boliden for superior shareholder returns once com­

modity prices improve. 

The expansion will increase Ronnskar's design capacity by 71% to 2 4 0 , 0 0 0 tonnes of 

copper cathode per year and is expected to reduce operating costs by between 2 5 % and 

3 0 % . Major items in the expansion include improvements to the harbour to accommodate 

increased traffic for incoming and outgoing materials, a new flash furnace, three new and 

larger converters, a new anode casting plant and an extension of the tankhouse and 

sulphuric acid plant. The expansion is expected to be completed in the second half of 2 0 0 0 , 

with full production from the expanded smelter and refinery scheduled to be reached by 

2001. The Ronnskar expansion also involves technical upgrades aimed at enhancing the 

smelter's overall efficiency and capacity to treat electronic scrap. The end result of the 

expansion project will be a modern, world class smelting and refining facility that is capable 

of generating stronger financial returns. 

The Ronnskar expansion project 

remained on schedule and budget 

despite record-low winter 

temperatures in northern Sweden. 

Once construction is completed, 

Rdnnskar's designed capacity will 

increase by 71% to 240,000 tonnes 

of copper cathode per year. 



WE RESPONDED 
From the moment we became aware of the tailings dam failure at the Los Frailes mine, 

the principal focus of senior management, mine site employees and 

specialized company-wide resources was to minimize the consequences of the spill . 

To minimize the consequences of the Los Frailes tailings dam failure, our subsidiary, Boliden 

Apirsa SL, implemented a prioritized plan focused on five key activities: 

• cleaning up the discharged materials: 

• establishing an alternative site for both the discharged materials and future tailings disposal; 

• investigating the cause of the failure; 

• monitoring the quality of the cleanup efforts; and 

• determining mine restart scenarios. 

The results of these efforts are a testament to the undivided attention and thoroughness 

we applied in dealing with this incident. Essentially all the discharged tailings have been col­

lected and transported for safe and approved storage in the depleted Aznalcollar open pit. 

Throughout the cleanup process, Apirsa and third-party experts conducted rigorous testing 

of metal transport and groundwater, and continually monitored the surrounding aquatic, 

terrestrial and agricultural ecosystems to ensure the quality of the cleanup. 

According to a study conducted by EPTISA, the failure of the tailings dam resulted 

from a slippage in the geologic formation beneath the dam. A later study, conducted by 

Principia EQE, found that neither the original dam construction project by INTECSA in 

1977, 1 1 0 r the independent dam stability study by GEOCISA in 1996, provided an adequate 

assessment of the subsoil characteristics that affected the ultimate stability of the dam. At the 

time of this report, Apirsa was awaiting permits to use the depleted Aznalcollar open 

pit as a future tailings disposal site in order to restart operations. A comprehensive review of the 

Los Frailes incident is included in Boliden's 1998 Environmental, Health & Safety Report. 

Tailings were removed and placed 

in the depleted Aznalcollar open 

pit for safe, government-approved 

storage. Third-party experts 

have opined on the high quality 

of the cleanup effort. It is their 

belief that most of the affected 

area can be returned to its 

former use. 



"To minimize the consequences of the Los Frailes 

tailings dam failure, our subsidiary implemented 

a prioritized plan focused on five key activities. 

We believe the results of these efforts are 

a testament to the undivided attention and 

thoroughness we applied in dealing with this 

major responsibility." 

Lars-Ake Lindahl 

Vice President, Environmental Affairs 





WE IDENTIFIED 
Boliden's exploration focus has shifted towards identifying and proving additional 

resources adjacent to its existing mines and infrastructure. 

Recent positive results illustrate the strong potential of this plan. 

19 

Highlights of Boliden's exploration success during the year include: £ 

• drilling at depth at the Renstrom mine encountered additional high-grade mineralization 

within the Simon zone, including a 29 .7 metre intersection grading 2 0 . 3 % zinc, 0 . 8 % ™ 

copper, 3 . 4 % lead, 4.9 g/t gold and 288 g/t silver. The zone remains open along strike and 

dip. The first 13 5 metres of a 650-metre underground development program was com­

pleted in 1998 to gain access to the Simon zone. This work will continue in 1999. 

A 3,500-metre drill program will commence in the second quarter of 1999 to further 

define the zone and prove up geological resources. 

• underground drilling in the Marshall zone at the Myra Falls operations continues to yield 

encouraging results including 23 metres of massive sulphides grading 11.3% zinc, 1.4% 

copper, 3.6 g/t gold and 264.3 g/t silver. A 25,000-metre drill program is planned in 1999 

to further define the zone to the north and west. 

• the high-grade Einarsson gold/copper zone was discovered at the Kristineberg mine and a 

number of polymetallic targets were intersected at the Garpenberg mine. In 1999, 

resource definition work will include 550 metres of development and 10,000 metres of 

drilling at Kristineberg and about 27 ,000 metres of drilling at Garpenberg. 

• at the Fortuna de Cobre exploration project adjacent to the Lomas Bayas mine, we have 

identified an in-pit mineral resource of approximately 848 million tonnes grading 0 . 2 4 % 

copper. Completion of a feasibility study awaits better commodity prices and capital mar­

ket conditions. 

Boliden Limited's exploration 

activities are primarily focused 

on identifying and proving 

additional resources adjacent to 

existing mines and infrastructure. 



F i n a n c i a l R e v i e w 

2 2 M A N A G E M E N T ' S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S 

3 4 C O N S O L I D A T E D F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S 

3 7 N O T E S TO T H E 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
(Years ended December 31) 

(in thousands of United States dollars, except per share data) rppS '997 1996 

Revenues $ 1,053,637 S 1,201,985 % 1,262,718 

Operating i n c o m e (loss) (68,715) I ] 1,721 64,385 

N e t earnings (loss) for the year (75,686) 81,804 38,347 

Earnings (loss) per share (0.71) 0.82* 0.38* 

Cash provided by operating activities before 

changes in non-cash operating w o r k i n g capital 2,734 169,958 I 20,672 

Capital expenditures (235,663) (149/129) (118,262) 

Cash and temporary investments 75,096 65-336 29.563 

Total assets 1,843,515 [.034,357 1,020,909 

L o n g - t e r m debt i n c l u d i n g current port ion 728,121 54.050 64.550 

Shareholders' equity 653,076 679,562 625,282 

Weighted average shares outstanding d u r i n g the year 106,086 99,640 

"'Based on weighted average shares outstanding during 1997. 

Revenue per 
Segment 

• Mining 
• Smelting 
• Fabrication 

Mining Revenue 
per Metal 

• Zinc 
• Copper 
• Lead 
• Gold 
• Silver 

Smelting Revenue 
per Metal 

• Zinc 
• Copper 
• Lead 
• Gold 
• Other 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
(in Un i t ed States dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

M e t a l s M a r k e t Overview 

Markets for Boliden's p r imary metals — zinc and copper — were soft i n 1998. C o p p e r prices decl ined to 12-year 

lows (and inflation-adjusted levels not seen since 1932) and zinc prices were the lowest i n four years. 

T h e cont inued deep recession i n many important Asian economies, as we l l as ongoing difficulties i n Russia 

and deepening concern about the economic health o f a number o f developing nations such as Braz i l , resulted i n 

reduced demand for metals w h i c h , w h e n coupled w i t h cont inued strong supply, led to lower metal prices. W h i l e 

economies i n Europe and N o r t h A m e r i c a generally performed wel l , the levels o f demand i n these regions were not 

great enough to absorb the supply o f metals. 

Z I N C 

Prices declined through 1998 as falling demand i n weak Asian markets more than offset generally healthy levels o f 

consumption i n Europe and the U n i t e d States. Product ion cutbacks and problems at some mines led to tightness 

i n zinc markets by year-end and resulted i n a decline i n zinc inventories o n the L o n d o n Metals Exchange ( L M E ) 

to levels not seen since 1992.These inventory levels and the current ou t look for zinc demand provide opt imism for 

price increases i n 1999. 

C O P P E R 

Difficult conditions prevailed i n the copper market i n 1998. Despite about 400,000 tonnes (annualized) i n produc­

t ion cutbacks due to mine closures dur ing the year, copper inventories o n the L M E began to bu i ld up over the last 

hal f o f 1998. These inventory levels and the current ou t look for copper demand do not provide op t imi sm for 

sustained price increases i n the near future. 

L M E M E T A L PRICES/ 

C H A N G E S IN INVENTORIES 

1998 '997 1998 1998 

Metal High Low Average Average Year-end* Inventories2 

Zinc ($/lb) 0.52 O.42 O.46 0.60 O.44 4.3 5% 

C o p p e r (S/lb) 0.85 O.65 O.75 I.03 O.67 t 7 5 % 

Lead ($/lb) 0.28 0.22 O.24 0.28 0.23 I 3 % 

G o l d ($/oz) 315 273 294 330 291 

Silver ($/oz) 7.81 4.69 5-54 4.9O 4.88 

Source: LME daily cash prices. 

1 Average price realized in December 1 9 9 8 . 

2 Relative increase or decline in LME inventories over the course of 1 9 9 8 . 
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C o n s o l i d a t e d R e s u l t s of O p e r a t i o n s 

R E V E N U E S 

B o l i d e n generates revenues p r imar i ly from three operating segments: min ing , smelting and fabrication. In 1998, 

consolidated revenues from operations decl ined 12.3% to $1,054 m i l l i o n . E l imina t ing the effect o f the Westmin 

acquisition (consolidated from January 1,1998), revenues declined 18.2% to $983 m i l l i o n . Lower metal prices were 

responsible for this decline. Inc lud ing Wes tmin , copper p roduc t ion increased 67% i n 1998, z inc 38%, lead 3%, 

gold 5% and silver 2%. 

Revenues from smelting operations declined pr imar i ly as a result o f lower zinc and copper prices and the 

scheduled two-week maintenance shutdowns at the R o n n s k a r and N o r z i n k smelters, w h i c h occur every three 

years. Revenues from fabrication also declined pr imar i ly as a result o f lower copper prices. 

E A R N I N G S 

T h e Company 's net loss o f $75.7 m i l l i o n i n 1998 reflected lower metal prices throughout the year and special 

provisions totalling $42.5 m i l l i o n for the cleanup o f the Los Frailes tailings dam failure i n Spain. In addition, the 

scheduled two-week maintenance shutdowns at the Company's two largest smelters reduced operating income by 

about $12 m i l l i o n . Operat ing income, before the special provisions, declined to a loss o f $26.2 m i l l i o n compared to 

income o f $111.7 m i l l i o n i n 1997. 

S E G M E N T E D O P E R A T I N G I N C O M E 

(millions of dollars) 1998 1997 

M i n i n g (42.4) 84.9 

Smelt ing 25.6 38.1 

Fabrication 12.2 8.5 

Corpora t e and other (21.7) (19.8) 

(26.2) 1 1 1.7 

P r o v i s i o n for Los Frailes (42-5) -
Total* (68.7) 111.7 

*May not add due to rounding. 

Cash provided by operating activities, before changes i n non-cash operating w o r k i n g capital, totalled $2.7 m i l l i o n 

in 1998, compared to $170.0 m i l l i o n i n 1997. 

E X P E N S E S 

Depreciat ion, depletion and amortizat ion rose 4 5 % to $99.0 m i l l i o n , p r imar i ly as a result o f the Westmin acqui­

sition. Sell ing, general and administrative expenses rose 2 9 % to $70.2 m i l l i o n , again pr imar i ly due to the Westmin 

acquis i t ion. E x p l o r a t i o n , research and development expenses increased 18% to $24.3 m i l l i o n . A number o f 

exploration programs were cancelled, suspended or curtailed toward the end o f the year as part o f a program to 

reduce expenditures. 

A l t h o u g h the Company's financial statements are reported i n U S dollars, most o f its costs are i n Swedish, 

Canadian , N o r w e g i a n and Spanish currencies. A s a result, changes i n the exchange rates for these currencies 

relative to the U S dollar have an impact o n costs. In 1998, all o f these currencies declined relative to the U S dollar. 

These declines had a positive impact o n the Company's costs w h e n expressed i n U S dollars. 
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A V E R A G E E X C H A N G E RATES 

Currency (per UStt.OO) 1998 kj<J7 

S E K 7.95 7.64 

C A D 1.48 1.38 

N O K 7.55 7-07 

ESP 149 146 

Interest o n long- te rm debt rose to $21.7 m i l l i o n from $4.1 m i l l i o n , p r imar i ly as a result o f debt assumed as part 

o f the w e s t m i n acquis i t ion . Total debt outstanding at D e c e m b e r 31, 1998 was $785.1 m i l l i o n , compared to 

$59.9 m i l l i o n a year earlier. 

Income tax expense i n 1998 was $1.7 m i l l i o n compared to $31.5 m i l l i o n i n 1997 due to lower operating 

earnings dur ing the year. 

M i n i n g 

C O N S O L I D A T E D F I N A N C I A L R E V I E W 

Boliden's m i n i n g operations showed an operating loss o f $84.9 m i l l i o n i n 1998 compared to operating income o f 

$84.9 m i l l i o n i n 1997. T h e reversal was due to lower metal prices throughout the year and the special provisions 

totalling $42.5 m i l l i o n related to the tailings dam failure at Los Frailes. 

C O N T A I N E D P R I M A R Y M E T A L P R O D U C T I O N 

Metal 1998 i ' » 7 Increase 

Zinc (tonnes) 178,778 129,761 3 8 % 

C o p p e r (tonnes) 143,516 86,041 6 7 % 

Lead (tonnes) 102,535 99,320 3 % 

G o l d * (ounces) 173,125 164,445 5% 

Silver (thousand ounces) 8,248 8,084 2 % 

'Includes 5 0 % of the gold produced at Saudi Company for Precious Metals. 

Produc t ion at Los Frailes was suspended following the failure o f the tailings dam o n A p r i l 25,1998, and has not yet 

resumed. O n September 1, Lomas Bayas i n C h i l e began commercia l product ion. B y year-end, the mine was p ro­

d u c i n g at a rate o f about 3,500 tonnes o f copper cathode per m o n t h . A t M y r a Falls i n B r i t i s h C o l u m b i a , 

product ion was suspended o n December 19 to address deteriorating ground conditions w i t h i n the Battle and Gap 

zones.The mine is scheduled to resume operations by A p r i l 1,1999. 

Total capital expenditures rose 55% to $174.5 m i l l i o n i n 1998. Cap i t a l expenditures for Lomas Bayas 

totalled $103.1 m i l l i o n — the Company's largest single capital project du r ing the year. Capi ta l expenditures at the 

Swedish mines totalled $46.9 m i l l i o n . 

Deprecia t ion and depletion doubled to $70.1 m i l l i o n , p r imar i ly due to the Wes tmin acquisit ion and the 

commencement o f commercia l product ion at Lomas Bayas i n September. 
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S W E D I S H O P E R A T I O N S 

Boliden Area Operations 

B o l i d e n Area Operations ( B A O ) includes five underground mines, an open pit mine and a single m i l l . Z i n c is the 

most important product. A cave-in at the Petiknas mine i n the fourth quarter o f 1997 reduced product ion at the 

mine and affected overall B A O m i l l head grades i n the first and second quarters o f 1998.The mine returned to full 

product ion at the end o f the second quarter. A record volume o f ore and slag was mi l l ed dur ing 1998, resulting i n 

increased output o f zinc, silver and lead. C o p p e r and gold product ion declined marginally. Throughput is expected 

to reach similar levels i n 1999, and zinc and silver head grades are expected to improve. 

D r i l l i n g at depth at the R e n s t r o m mine i n 1998 proved up two m i l l i o n tonnes o f inferred mineral resources 

and, i n the process, encountered additional h igh grade base metal mineralization, w h i c h has since been named the 

S i m o n zone. T h e first 135 metres o f a 650-metre underground development program was completed i n 1998 to 

gain access to the S i m o n zone. A 3,500-metre d r i l l program is scheduled to commence i n the second quarter o f 

1999 to test the strike and dip extensions o f the S i m o n zone and prove up geological resources. 

Garpenberg 

Garpenberg includes two underground mines and a m i l l w h i c h produces lead, zinc, silver and copper concentrates. 

In 1997, a n e w shaft was opened at the Garpenberg m i n e and m i n i n g began at the 900 -metre level at the 

Garpenberg N o r r a mine . Improved ore grades and higher volumes o f ore m i l l e d resulted i n record levels o f 

o f all metals i n 1998. H i g h e r throughput is expected i n 1999. 

T h e explorat ion d r i l l i n g program at Garpenberg encountered encouraging mineral izat ion surrounding 

both mines .The current 1999 exploration program includes about 27,000 metres o f dr i l l ing . 

Aitik 

A i t i k is an open pit mine and m i l l located nor th o f the Arc t i c C i rc le . A i t i k copper concentrates are transported to 

the Ronnska r smelter. R e c o r d amounts o f ore were mi l l ed i n 1998 at grades w h i c h averaged slighdy below plan 

for the year. T h e 1999 mine plan calls for slightly lower head grades o f copper and gold and similar throughput 

levels to 1998. Grades are expected to exceed 1998 levels i n 2000. 

Laisvall 

Laisvall is an underground mine and m i l l . It is Europe's largest lead mine, producing zinc and silver as by-products. 

M i l l e d product ion set a record o f 1.96 m i l l i o n tonnes i n 1998 and ore grades improved slightly. Further increases 

i n product ion are planned for 1999 w i t h a higher propor t ion o f zinc by-product expected. 

C A N A D I A N O P E R A T I O N S 

Myra Falls 

M y r a Falls, located i n Br i t i sh C o l u m b i a , consists o f an underground mine and a m i l l producing zinc, copper, gold 

and silver. T h e operations were part o f the W e s t m i n acquis i t ion . P r o d u c t i o n dec l ined i n 1998 due to lower 

volumes o f ore mi l led , al though average head grades increased for all metals. R e d u c e d product ion was the result o f 

poor stope recoveries attributable to challenging ground conditions w i t h i n the Battle and Gap zones o f the mine. 

In Augus t , a task force began s tudying a l o n g - t e r m so lu t ion to the p rob lem. In December , p roduc t i on was 

suspended to al low for the implementat ion o f a comprehensive program o f ground support techniques w h i c h have 
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been successfully used i n other B o l i d e n mines. W o r k is progressing we l l and M y r a Falls is expected to resume 

product ion by A p r i l i , 1999. T h e estimated cost o f these measures is $9.8 m i l l i o n , o f w h i c h $6.6 m i l l i o n w i l l be 

capitalized. T h e g round support improvements should al low for increased zinc product ion from the h igh grade 

Battle and Gap zones. 

E x p l o r a t i o n d u r i n g the year focused p r i m a r i l y o n the Mar sha l l zone. Several underground d r i l l holes 

encountered encouraging high-grade polymeta l l ic massive sulphide intersections. T h e current 1999 program 

includes 150 metres o f underg round development and 25,000 metres o f d r i l l i n g to test the extension o f the 

Marshal l zone to the nor th and west. 

Gibraltar 

Gibral tar is an open pit copper mine and m i l l w i t h an accompanying solvent extract ion and e lec t rowinn ing 

( S X - E W ) circui t located i n central Br i t i sh C o l u m b i a . T h e operations were part o f the Wes tmin acquisi t ion. In 

M a r c h 1998, B o l i d e n announced that m i n i n g w o u l d be suspended due to ongo ing capital requirements at the 

mine and h igh operating costs i n the weak copper price environment. Waste stripping was discontinued and oper­

ations focused o n m i n i n g readily available ore. A n attempt by a management/employee group to secure funds to 

keep the m i n e operat ing was unsuccessful. C losu re o f the m i n e was substantially complete by the end o f 

February 1999. Total mine product ion dur ing 1998 was about equal to 1997 levels. 

S O U T H A M E R I C A N O P E R A T I O N S 

Lomas Bayas 

Lomas Bayas is an open pit copper mine and S X - E W plant located i n nor thern C h i l e , 145 kilometres northeast o f 

the major port o f Antofagasta at 1,500 metres elevation. T h e project produced its first copper cathode i n July and 

began commercia l product ion o n September 1. B y year-end, the mine was producing at a rate o f about 7 0 % o f 

design capacity, or 3,500 tonnes o f copper cathode per month . 

Lomas Bayas has experienced difficulty i n reaching design capacity o f 5,000 tonnes per m o n t h because 

higher-than-anticipated levels o f chlorides and nitrates i n the ore are affecting processing by S X - E W techniques. 

B o l i d e n has solved the chlor ide problem and has an action plan to address the h igh nitrate levels. It is expected that 

design capacity w i l l be reached by year-end 1999 wi thout an increase i n the budgeted capital cost o f the project. 

T h e estimated l i fe-of-mine operating cash cost o f the project is $0.54 per pound o f copper. 

O T H E R 

Los Frailes 

Los Frailes is an open pit zinc mine and m i l l located near Seville i n southern Spain. Los Frailes achieved its oper­

ating rate o f four m i l l i o n tonnes per year o f ore i n the first quarter o f 1998. Grades were as planned. O n A p r i l 25, 

1998, m i n i n g operations were halted after the tailings dam failed, releasing approximately seven m i l l i o n cubic 

metres o f tailings water and tailings into the surrounding countryside. T h e Spanish government and B o l i d e n Apirsa 

S.L., the subsidiary o f B o l i d e n w h i c h owns the mine, assumed jo in t responsibility for the cleanup. B y year-end, 

virtually all o f the discharged tailings had been collected and deposited i n the nearby depleted Aznalcol lar open pit. 

Revegetat ion o f affected areas was also complete. 
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In the second quarter o f 1998, the C o m p a n y took a special provis ion o f $34 m i l l i o n , net o f insurance 

proceeds, to cover Apirsa s loss from the dam failure. A further provision o f $8.5 m i l l i o n was taken i n the fourth 

quarter to reflect addi t ional expenses o f the cleanup. T h e ca r ry ing value o f the Company ' s investment i n 

Los Frailes is about $165 m i l l i o n . 

Apirsa has received permits to recommence in-p i t m i n i n g and is awaiting similar approvals for its m i l l i ng 

operations, i n c l u d i n g the use o f the depleted Azna lco l l a r open pit as a future tailings disposal site. A c c o r d i n g 

to reports commiss ioned by Api r sa , errors i n the calculations made bo th d u r i n g the o r ig ina l 1977 design and 

construct ion o f the tailings dam and d u r i n g the 1996 dam stability study (in bo th cases by independent th i rd 

parties), created a situation w h i c h resulted i n an approximate 60-metre lateral displacement, or failure, o f a por t ion 

o f the geological fo rmat ion about 15 metres be low the base o f the dam. T h i s displacement, or failure, caused 

an opening i n the tailings dam wal l resulting i n the release o f tailings and tailings water. Legal proceedings to 

determine and allocate l iabil i ty for the damages, inc lud ing those sustained by Apirsa , are ongoing. 

SCPM 

S C P M was formed i n 1989 to mine and process, using conventional and heap leach technology, the Sukhaybarat 

gold deposit 330 kilometres east o f M e d i n a i n Saudi Arabia . B o l i d e n owns 50% o f S C P M w i t h the Saudi govern­

ment o w n i n g the balance. In July 1998, B o l i d e n announced that it was seeking a buyer for its interest i n S C P M , as 

part o f its intent ion to focus o n its core metals business. Cash operating costs rose to $250 an ounce from $162 i n 

1997 as ore grades decl ined. Despi te fal l ing go ld prices and a 2 9 % reduct ion i n p roduc t ion , S C P M remained 

profitable o n an operating and net basis. B o t h throughput and ore grades are expected to increase slightly i n 1999. 

S m e l t i n g 

C O N S O L I D A T E D F I N A N C I A L R E V I E W 

Operat ing income declined 33%, or $12.5 m i l l i o n , to $25.6 m i l l i o n i n 1998. T h e scheduled two-week maintenance 

shutdowns o f the Ronnska r copper smelter and the N o r z i n k zinc smelter i n the second quarter reduced operating 

income by about $12 m i l l i o n . These shutdowns occur every three years. Despite the shutdowns, product ion o f cop­

per and zinc at the smelters was d o w n only marginally. Produc t ion o f lead (primarily from the Bergsoe secondary 

lead smelter), go ld and silver increased slightly compared to 1997. Tak ing into account the two-week shutdowns, 

annualized copper and zinc product ion w o u l d have increased marginally. 

Total capital expenditures rose 56% to $49.4 m i l l i o n i n 1998. Capi ta l expenditures at R o n n s k a r totalled 

$44.9 m i l l i o n o f these expenditures. Deprecia t ion and depletion decreased 9 % to $21.1 m i l l i o n . 
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S M E L T E R P R O D U C T I O N 

Smelter Feed/Production 1998 1997 

Z i n c cl inker (tonnes) 37,337 41,400 

Z i n c (tonnes) 137,925 142,249 

C o p p e r feed (tonnes) 441,150 444,301 

C o p p e r cathode (tonnes) 125,355 128,414 

Lead* (tonnes) 87,262 85,874 

G o l d (kilos) 9,283 8,425 

Silver (kilos) 286,542 278,797 

* Includes lead and lead alloys. 

R O N N S K A R 

R o n n s k a r meta l lurg ica l c o m p l e x i n n o r t h e r n Sweden includes a copper, lead and precious metals smelter 

and refinery w i t h its o w n port facilities. O n June 29, 1998, B o l i d e n announced approval for the expansion o f the 

copper smelter to 240,000 tonnes o f copper cathode per year from 140,000 tonnes. It is expected that the expansion 

w i l l be complete i n the second half o f 2000 at a cost o f $245 m i l l i o n . In addi t ion to increasing product ion , the 

expansion project is expected to reduce copper smelting costs by between 2 5 % and 3 0 % a year. 

N O R Z I N K 

N o r z i n k zinc smelter and refinery i n southern N o r w a y is a 5 0 - 5 0 j o in t venture between B o l i d e n and R i o T i n t o 

P ic . T h e facility has the capacity to produce about 140,000 tonnes o f refined zinc and 28,000 tonnes o f a luminum 

fluoride powder per year. 

B E R G S O B 

Bergsoe secondary lead smelter i n southern Sweden recycles substantially al l o f the spent lead-acid batteries 

i n Scandinavia. P r o d u c t i o n o f lead and alloys increased as a result o f a shaft furnace expansion comple ted i n 

mid-1997. 

O T H E R O P E R A T I O N S 

Fabrication 

T h e fabrication business area produces copper tubing and brass products for sale throughout Europe and includes 

a recycl ing divis ion. T h e brass divis ion has three plants — i n Sweden, the Netherlands and the U n i t e d K i n g d o m , and 

the copper divis ion has two plants - i n B e l g i u m and Sweden. T h e recycl ing divis ion operates nine scrap yards i n 

nor thern Sweden. 

In 1998, operating income rose 4 5 % to $12.2 m i l l i o n as the bu i ld ing and construction industry i n Europe 

mainta ined a h i g h level o f activity, result ing i n strong order flow and higher average prices for all units. L o w 

copper and steel scrap prices put pressure o n the financial performance o f the recycl ing division. 

Con tech 

C o n t e c h engineering and construction company sells and licenses technology developed by B o l i d e n . It also p ro­

vides consult ing services and undertakes project management assignments outside the non-ferrous metals industry. 

Offices are located i n Sweden, Germany, Russia, C h i n a and Tanzania. 

Opera t ing income was $1.1 m i l l i o n i n 1998. C o n t e c h is a major engineering contractor i n the Ronnska r 

expansion project. Operat ing income from this unit is included i n "Corporate and other" i n the financial statements. 
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L i q u i d i t y a n d F i n a n c i a l R e s o u r c e s 

W o r k i n g capital at December 31,1998 was $81.7 m i l l i o n compared to $185.6 m i l l i o n a year earlier.The decline was 

due p r imar i ly to a decrease i n accounts receivable, and increases i n accounts payable and current debt. T h e ratio o f 

current assets to current liabilities was 1.24:1 at year-end, compared to 1.75:1 at December 31,1997. 

C a s h p r o v i d e d by opera t ing activit ies (before changes i n non-cash opera t ing w o r k i n g capital) was 

$2.7 m i l l i o n , or $0.03 per share, i n 1998, compared w i t h $170.0 m i l l i o n , or $1.71 per share, i n the previous year. 

T h e decl ine was due p r i m a r i l y to the net loss o f $75.7 m i l l i o n incu r red by the C o m p a n y i n 1998 versus net 

earnings o f $81.8 m i l l i o n i n 1997, a negative variance o f $157.5 m i l l i o n , p r i m a r i l y as a result o f lower metal 

prices and the $42.5 m i l l i o n provisions for Los Frailes. N o n - c a s h operating w o r k i n g capital decreased $15.9 m i l ­

l i o n , after increasing by $37.9 m i l l i o n i n 1997, due to reduced accounts receivable and higher accounts payable. 

In 1998, B o l i d e n invested $530.2 m i l l i o n i n its business, i n c l u d i n g the W e s t m i n acquis i t ion . O f the 

$235.6 m i l l i o n i n project-related capital expenditures, $103.1 m i l l i o n was spent at Lomas Bayas and $44.9 m i l l i o n 

o n Ronnskar . Capi ta l expenditures are expected to decline i n 1999 to about $150 m i l l i o n , o f w h i c h the Ronnska r 

expansion w i l l account for about $90 m i l l i o n . 

I n d e b t e d n e s s a n d C a p i t a l R e s o u r c e s 

B o l i d e n had total debt outstanding at December 31 ,1998 , inc lud ing amounts due w i t h i n one year, o f $785.1 m i l ­

l i o n compared to $59.9 m i l l i o n a year earlier. Included i n long- te rm debt was $47.9 m i l l i o n o f accrued pension 

liabilities. U n d e r Swedish law, a company w h i c h meets certain credit criteria is not required to fund its pension 

obligations. Instead, it can choose to pay its pension obligations as they become due. B o l i d e n meets these criteria 

and, as a result, has classified its pension l iabil i ty as long- te rm debt. Interest accrues o n this debt and is recorded as 

interest expense. 

T h e increase i n long- te rm debt dur ing 1998 was pr imar i ly the result o f the Wes tmin acquisition, as we l l as 

expenses related to the comple t ion o f the Lomas Bayas project and the commencement o f the Ronnskar expansion. 

T h e total cost o f the Wes tmin acquisition was $360.7 m i l l i o n , inc lud ing $311.4 m i l l i o n i n cash and $49.3 m i l l i o n i n 

B o l i d e n c o m m o n shares. B o l i d e n assumed Wes tmin long- te rm debt o f $285.2 m i l l i o n o n the Westmin acquisition, 

$191.3 m i l l i o n o f w h i c h was refinanced o n more favourable terms. 

365 Five-Year 
Long-Term Debt 
Repayment Schedule 
(MSMS i f M m ) 
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In January 1999, the C o m p a n y entered in to a b r idge 

fac i l i ty o f $150 m i l l i o n that can be used to refinance the 

Lomas Bayas project facility. 

O n January 25,1999, the C o m p a n y announced a Cdn$223 

m i l l i o n convertible preferred share rights offering to its share­

holders. Shareholders receive one r ight for every c o m m o n 

share o f the C o m p a n y held by them. Rightsholders are ent i ­

tled to purchase one preferred share at a subscript ion pr ice o f Cdn $ 2 5 for every 12 rights he ld by them. T h e 

offering is expected to be completed by the end o f M a r c h 1999. I f all rights are exercised, the offering w i l l raise 

about $146 m i l l i o n . Trel leborg A B , w h i c h indirectly owns 42 .9% o f the Company's c o m m o n shares, has agreed to 

subscribe to its share (about $62.5 mi l l ion) o f the offering (Trelleborg subscription commitment) . Proceeds w i l l be 

used init ial ly to repay existing indebtedness and ultimately to finance the Ronnska r expansion. 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

R i s k s a n d U n c e r t a i n t i e s 

M E T A L P R I C E S A N D C U R R E N C Y F L U C T U A T I O N S 

Boliden's earnings and cash flows are sensitive to a number o f factors over w h i c h the C o m p a n y has little or no 

control . In particular, metal prices and currency fluctuations can have a material effect o n results. T h e fo l lowing 

table shows the annual impac t o n Bo l iden ' s opera t ing i n c o m e o f a 10% change i n meta l pr ices e x c l u d i n g 

the impact o f forward hedging contracts. Calculations are based o n 1999 planned product ion levels and average 

1998 prices. 

EARNINGS SENSITIVITY 

Operating Income 

Metal (+/- 10% change in price) Mining Smelters Total 

(millions of dollars) 

C o p p e r 20.4 1.4 21.9 

Z i n c 12.7 2.5 15.2 

Lead 4.5 1.3 5.8 

G o l d 0.4 0.1 0.5 

Silver 4.6 - 4.6 

H E D G I N G P O L I C I E S 

B o l i d e n uses hedging instruments such as forward contracts, futures, options, swaps and other financial instruments 

to manage its exposure to fluctuations i n metal prices, exchange rates and interest rates. T h e C o m p a n y publishes 

its financial statements i n U S dollars and has significant investments i n operations i n Sweden, Norway , Spain, 

Canada and C h i l e . Boliden 's total posi t ion under hedging instruments at December 31, 1998 is summarized i n 

note 14 to the financial statements. T h e C o m p a n y does not consider the credit risk associated w i t h its hedging 

instruments to be significant. 

C R E D I T R I S E 

B o l i d e n sells its metals to a l i m i t e d number o f h igh-qua l i ty customers. A l l o f the Company ' s credit risks are 

managed through a rigorous cash management program. As a result, B o l i d e n does not believe that the credit risk 

w i t h its customers, or w i t h any single customer, is significant. 

T H E L O S F R A I L E S S I T U A T I O N 

T h e Los Frailes tailings dam failure has created risks w h i c h may or may not become material i n 1999. Specifically, 

they include possible l iabi l i ty i n connec t ion w i t h the tailings dam failure; uncertainty about the resumption o f 

m i n i n g and m i l l i n g at Los Frailes; and the possibility o f a w r i t e d o w n i n the carrying value o f the Company's invest­

ment i n Los Frailes. A t this time, it is difficult to determine l ike ly developments concern ing Los Frailes or the 

extent o f the impact to the Company ' s results and balance sheet, i f any, should the shu tdown o f m i n i n g and 

m i l l i n g at Los Frailes become protracted or permanent. Currently, management expects operations to resume i n 

the second quarter o f 1999, after the C o m p a n y is granted the necessary operating licenses and permits. 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

A V A I L A B L E C A S H 

B o l i d e n has p lanned capital expenditures for 1999 to ta l l ing about $150 m i l l i o n . A t D e c e m b e r 31, 1998, the 

C o m p a n y had available cash o f $75 m i l l i o n and unused commit ted credit facilities o f about $60 m i l l i o n . A t current 

metal prices, cash provided by operating activities i n 1999 is expected to be comparable to 1998. T h e convertible 

preferred share rights offer ing is expected to raise a m i n i m u m o f $62.5 m i l l i o n (the Tre l leborg subscr ip t ion 

commitment) and a m a x i m u m o f $146 m i l l i o n before the end o f M a r c h . T h e C o m p a n y is also actively pursuing 

the disposition o f non-core assets. 

A s s u m i n g the successful c o m p l e t i o n o f the convert ible preferred share rights offering (even at the 

$62.5 m i l l i o n m i n i m u m ) , no significant further deteriorat ion i n metal prices and the successful resumption o f 

operations at M y r a Falls, management expects that B o l i d e n w i l l have sufficient available cash to fund its operations 

and planned capital expenditures through 1999. Add i t i ona l cash w i l l be available i f the C o m p a n y is able to sell 

non-core assets dur ing 1999. 

G E A R I N G R A T I O 

T h e C o m p a n y is required to maintain a Gear ing R a t i o (as defined i n the lending agreements) equal to or less than 

1.25:1 under its credit facilities. A t December 31, 1998, the Gear ing R a t i o was 1.05:1. After g iv ing effect to the 

preferred share rights offering, the Gear ing R a t i o at December 31,1998 w o u l d have been between 0.69:1 and 0.88:1. 

A s s u m i n g the successful c o m p l e t i o n o f the convert ible preferred share rights offering (even at the 

$62.5 m i l l i o n m i n i m u m ) , no significant further deterioration i n metal prices and no wri tedowns o f the carrying 

value o f the Company's investment i n Los Frailes or other assets, management expects that it w i l l be able to satisfy 

the Gear ing R a t i o requirement dur ing 1999. 

Year 2 0 0 0 

In 1996, B o l i d e n began a comprehensive analysis o f the steps necessary to make its computer systems Year 2000 

compliant. A program was initiated, w i t h costs expensed as they were incurred. As o f year-end 1998, about $5 m i l ­

l i o n had been spent and expensed, inc lud ing $3 m i l l i o n i n 1998. It is not expected that Year 2000 compliance costs 

i n 1999 w i l l be material. 

Each o f Boliden's operations has a Year 2000 action plan i n place, w h i c h includes complet ing an inventory 

o f existing systems ( inc luding imbedded systems i n operational equipment) , assessing all systems to determine 

whether they are Year 2000 compliant, p r io r i t i z ing cri t ical systems, developing conversion or replacement strategies 

for systems that are not Year 2000 compl iant , and developing plans for system remediat ion and testing o f any 

system changes or upgrades. As o f December 31, 1998, implementa t ion o f Bol iden 's Year 2000 act ion plan was 

about 8 0 % complete. B o l i d e n expects that implementat ion w i l l be complete before year-end 1999. 

B o l i d e n has contacted thi rd-par ty vendors and suppliers to determine the extent to w h i c h they have 

addressed Year 2000 compliance issues. As B o l i d e n has no ability to directly influence the actions o f third parties, 

B o l i d e n believes that the greatest potential risk to its operations i n connect ion w i t h Year 2000 compliance is the 

state o f readiness o f critical third-party suppliers, particularly water and electricity suppliers to certain o f its operations. 

T h e inherent uncertainty associated w i t h the Year 2000 problem makes it impossible for B o l i d e n to reach a 

definitive conclusion as to the actual impact, i f any, o f the Year 2000 problem o n its operations and financial results. 

As a result, Bol iden 's efforts w i t h respect to Year 2000 compliance are ongoing , and its overall act ion plan and 

specific contingency plans w i l l be updated, where necessary, as new information becomes available. 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

O u t l o o k 

T h e Company's financial performance i n 1999 w i l l depend pr imar i ly o n metal prices. W h i l e there have been some 

improvements i n z inc prices du r ing the first quarter o f 1999, no clear trends are evident nor is there consensus 

among industry observers as to the general direct ion o f metal markets. T h e out look is reasonably positive for both 

the Smel t ing and the Fabricat ion business segments o f the Company. 

Management faces five particularly important challenges, each o f w h i c h w i l l have an effect o n the financial 

performance o f B o l i d e n i n 1999: 

• resumption o f operations at Los Frailes; 

• resumption o f operations at M y r a Falls; 

• continuation o f the on- t ime and on-budget expansion o f Ronnskar ; 

• achievement o f design capacity product ion levels at Lomas Bayas; and 

• cont inued good operating performance o f the Swedish mines. 

T h e C o m p a n y has embarked o n a program to reduce its expenditures and operating costs at all operations 

dur ing 1999, excluding expenditures for the Ronnska r expansion. 

Management w i l l continue to mon i to r the Company's financial situation closely, inc lud ing keeping tight 

controls o n discretionary expenditures. 



MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

T h e i n f o r m a t i o n i n this annual report has been rev iewed and approved by management . T h e consol idated 

f inancial statements have been prepared i n accordance w i t h generally accepted accoun t ing pr inc ip les . W h e r e 

alternative a c c o u n t i n g methods exist, management has chosen those methods deemed most appropriate i n 

the circumstances. F inanc ia l statements are not precise since they inc lude cer tain amounts based o n estimates 

and j udgmen t s . T h e f inanc ia l i n f o r m a t i o n presented t h r o u g h o u t this repor t is consistent w i t h that i n the 

consol idated f inancial statements. 

B o l i d e n has developed systems o f in te rna l accoun t ing and administrative con t ro l to p rov ide assurance 

o f the r e l i ab i l i t y o f the f i nanc ia l i n f o r m a t i o n , consis tent w i t h reasonable cost. T h e C o m p a n y mainta ins 

fo rmal pol ic ies and procedures, carefully selects and trains personnel , and requires the appropriate delegat ion 

o f au thor i ty and segregation o f responsibi l i t ies . These procedures are m o n i t o r e d by in te rna l auditors w h o 

p e r f o r m extensive tests at ma jo r l oca t ions w o r l d w i d e . B o l i d e n ' s i n d e p e n d e n t audi tors also r e v i e w the 

C o m p a n y ' s systems o f i n t e r n a l a c c o u n t i n g c o n t r o l for the pu rpose o f express ing the i r o p i n i o n o n the 

consol idated f inancial statements. 

Bo l iden ' s board o f directors is responsible for ensur ing that management fulfills its responsibilit ies for 

f inancial r epor t ing and is u l t imate ly responsible for r e v i e w i n g and approv ing the consol idated financial state­

ments and the a c c o m p a n y i n g management's discussion and analysis. T h e board carries out this responsibi l i ty 

p r inc ipa l l y t h rough its A u d i t C o m m i t t e e . T h e C o m p a n y ' s auditors have ful l access to the A u d i t C o m m i t t e e . 

A N D E R S B T J L O W 

President and C h i e f Execu t ive Of f i ce r 

J A N P E T T E R T R A A H O L T 

Sen io r V i c e President , F inance and A d m i n i s t r a t i o n , 

and C h i e f F inanc ia l Of f i ce r 

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS 

W e have audi ted the consol ida ted balance sheets o f B o l i d e n L i m i t e d as at D e c e m b e r 31, 1998 and 1997 and 

the consol idated statements o f earnings and cash flows for each o f the years i n the three-year p e r i o d ended 

D e c e m b e r 31, 1998. These f inancial statements are the responsibi l i ty o f the C o m p a n y ' s management . O u r 

responsibi l i ty is to express an o p i n i o n o n these f inancial statements based o n o u r audits. 

W e conduc t ed o u r audits i n accordance w i t h generally accepted aud i t ing standards i n Canada . T h o s e 

standards require that w e p lan and p e r f o r m an audit to ob ta in reasonable assurance w h e t h e r the financial 

statements are free o f mater ia l misstatement. A n audit includes examin ing , o n a test basis, evidence suppor t ing 

the amounts and disclosures i n the f inanc ia l statements. A n audi t also inc ludes assessing the a c c o u n t i n g 

p r inc ip le s used and s ignif icant estimates made by management , as w e l l as evaluat ing the overa l l financial 

statement presentation. 

In o u r o p i n i o n , these conso l i da t ed f inanc ia l statements present fairly, i n a l l ma te r i a l respects, the 

financial pos i t i on o f the C o m p a n y as at D e c e m b e r 31 ,1998 and 1997 and the results o f its operations and the 

changes i n its financial pos i t i on for the three years ended D e c e m b e r 31, 1998 i n accordance w i t h generally 

accepted accoun t ing pr inc ip les i n Canada . 

///fat ^ 

C H A R T E R E D A C C O U N T A N T S 

Toronto , Canada 

M a r c h 9, 1999 



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
December 31, 1998 and 1997 

(in thousands of United States dollars) 1998 

A s s e t s 
C U R R E N T A S S E T S : 

Cash and short- term investments 

Accounts and metals settlements receivable 

Inventories (note 4) 

$ 75,096 

166,957 

176,761 

418,814 

65,336 

200,676 

168,070 

434,082 

Capita l assets (note 5) 

Deferred expenses and other assets 

1,387,692 

37,009 

$ 1,843,515 

571,985 

28,290 

1,034,357 

L i a b i l i t i e s a n d S h a r e h o l d e r s ' Equity 
C U R R E N T L I A B I L I T I E S : 

Bank indebtedness 

Accounts payable and accrued charges 

Income and other taxes payable 

Deferred revenue 

Debt , inc lud ing current por t ion o f 

long- te rm debt (note 7) 

256,476 

1,251 

9,478 

69,888 

5,862 

220,184 

7 J 5 4 

14,417 

833 

L o n g - t e r m debt (note 7) 

Deferred income taxes (note 8) 

Deferred revenue 

Provis ion for reclamation costs 

Othe r long- te rm liabilities 

337,093 

715,171 

38,954 

79,701 

19,520 

248,450 

53,217 

1,622 

9,870 

3i ,579 

10,057 

Shareholders' equity (note 10) 

Commi tmen t s and contingencies (note n ) 

1,190,439 

653,076 

$ 1,843,515 

354,795 

679,562 

1,034,357 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

O n b e h a l f o f the B o a r d : 

A /I S'hu. 
R O B E R T R. S T O N E 

D i r e c t o r 

F R E D E R I C K H . T E L M E R 

D i r e c t o r 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 
Years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 

(in thousands of United States dollars) 1998 1997 1996 

Revenues $ 1,053,637 % 1,201,985 $ 1,262,718 

Operat ing expenses: 

Cost o f sales o f metals and other products 886,420 947,007 1,044,649 

Depreciat ion, depletion and amortization 98,955 68,240 82,195 

Selling, general and administrative 70,214 54,509 5 i ,097 

Explora t ion , research and development 24,263 20,508 20,392 

Provis ion for Los Frailes incident 42,500 - -
1,122,352 1,090,264 1,198,333 

Operat ing income (loss) (68,715) 111,721 64,385 

Interest o n long- te rm debt (21,670) (4,099) (4,349) 

Interest and other income (note 12) 16,379 5,671 4,227 

(5,291) i ,572 (122) 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes (74,006) H3 ,293 64,263 

Provis ion for income taxes (note 8) 1,680 31,489 25,916 

N e t earnings (loss) $ (75,686) $ 81,804 $ 38,347 

Earnings (loss) per share (note 2(K)) $ (0.71) $ 0.82 $ 0.38 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
Years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 

(in thousands of United States dollars) 1998 1997 1996 

C A S H P R O V I D E D B Y ( U S E D I N ) I 

O P E R A T I N G A C T I V I T I E S : 

N e t earnings (loss) % (75,686) % 81,804 $ 38,347 

Items not affecting cash: 

Depreciat ion, depletion and amortization 98,955 68,240 82,195 

Deferred income taxes (6,103) 20,296 130 

Othe r (14,432) (382) -

2,734 169,958 120,672 

N e t change i n non-cash operating 

w o r k i n g capital 15,856 (37,895) 23,603 

Cash provided by operating activities 18,590 132,063 144,275 

F I N A N C I N G A C T I V I T I E S : 

Addi t ions to (repayments of) debt 668,586 (2,810) (4,689) 

Shares issued o n acquisition o f 

Wes tmin Resources L i m i t e d 49,269 - -
Repayment o f 11% senior secured notes (144,692) - -
R e d e m p t i o n o f preferred shares i n subsidiaries (46,594) - -
Capi ta l advances (repayment) from parent - 29,434 (13,004) 

Cash received from Trelleborg A B - 35,789 -

Cash provided by (used in) f inancing activities 526,569 62,413 (17,693) 

I N V E S T I N G A C T I V I T I E S : 

Capi ta l expenditures (235,663) (149,629) (118,262) 

Proceeds o n asset dispositions 1,368 2,381 -
N e t assets acquired o n acquisition o f 

Wes tmin Resources L i m i t e d , net o f cash acquired (295,905) (13,644) -

Cash used i n investing activities (530,200) (160,892) (118,262) 

Effect o f exchange rate changes o n cash 

balances i n foreign currencies 663 (251) (46) 

Increase i n cash and short- term investments 15,622 33,333 8,274 

Cash and short- term investments, 

net o f bank indebtedness, beginning o f year 59,474 26,141 17,867 

Cash and short- term investments, 

net o f bank indebtedness, end o f year $ 75,096 $ 59,474 $ 26,141 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996) 

(Tabular amounts in thousands of Uni ted States dollars) 

1. G e n e r a l a n d B a s i s of P r e s e n t a t i o n : 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts o f B o l i d e n L i m i t e d and its consolidated subsidiaries 

and jo in t ventures (collectively, the " C o m p a n y " ) . 

B o l i d e n L i m i t e d was incorporated under the Canada Business Corpora t ions A c t on A p r i l 18, 1997 and 

acquired the m i n i n g and metals businesses o f Trelleborg A B and its subsidiaries (collectively, "Trelleborg") concur­

rent w i t h the closing o f the ini t ial public offering by way o f secondary offering by Trelleborg o f c o m m o n shares o f 

the C o m p a n y w h i c h closed on June 17, 1997. 

T h e accompanying consolidated financial statements for periods pr ior to the closing date o f the secondary 

offering have been prepared from the historical financial records o f Trelleborg, and reflect the combined m i n i n g 

and metals businesses acquired as though carr ied o n by the C o m p a n y as a separate legal entity. T h e net assets 

acquired f rom Tre l leborg are stated at ca r ry ing values based o n their his tor ic cost to Tre l leborg . Fo r periods 

pr ior to the closing date o f the secondary offering, these financial statements reflect certain allocated costs w h i c h 

management believes are reasonable: 

(a) certain corporate overhead expenses incurred by Trelleborg (note 13); 

(b) interest income o n amounts due from Trelleborg, based on interest income earned by Trelleborg on its interest 

earning cash and short- term investments (note 12); and 

(c) corporate i ncome taxes reflecting the corporate i ncome taxes related to the operations inc luded i n these 

financial statements. 

These financial statements may not necessarily be indicative o f the results that w o u l d have been attained i f 

the C o m p a n y had been operated as a separate legal entity dur ing the periods presented through to the closing date 

o f the secondary offering. 

2 . S i g n i f i c a n t A c c o u n t i n g P o l i c i e s : 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared i n accordance w i t h accounting principles generally 

accepted i n Canada , consistent ly appl ied . T h e p r i n c i p a l a ccoun t ing pol ic ies fo l l owed by the C o m p a n y are 

summarized below: 

( A ) B A S I S O F C O N S O L I D A T I O N : 

These financial statements consolidate the financial statements o f all con t ro l l ed companies and inc lude the 

Company's proportionate interests i n the accounts o f entities that are jo in t ly controlled, inc lud ing N o r z i n k and 

S C P M . Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

( B ) T R A N S L A T I O N O F F O R E I G N C U R R E N C I E S : 

Exchange gains and losses o n foreign currency transactions are inc luded i n income i n the current year, except 

w h e n hedged or w h e n the gains or losses relate to a monetary i t em w i t h a fixed or ascertainable life extending 

beyond the end o f the fo l lowing fiscal year. In this case, the gain or loss is deferred and amortized to income on a 

straight-line basis over the per iod the related monetary i tem is outstanding. Financial statements o f self-sustaining 

foreign operations are translated in to U n i t e d States dollars using the current rate method. U n d e r this method, 

assets and liabilities are translated at the rate o f exchange i n effect at the year-end, w h i l e revenue and expense 

items (including depreciation, depletion and amortization) are translated at the average o f the rates o f exchange 

prevailing dur ing the year. Exchange gains and losses from the translation o f such financial statements are deferred 

and disclosed as a separate component o f shareholders' equity. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

( C ) R E V E N U E R E C O G N I T I O N : 

Revenues are recorded w h e n the rights and obligations o f ownership pass to the buyer. 

( D ) V A L U A T I O N O F I N V E N T O R I E S : 

Metals inventories, i nc lud ing metals i n purchased concentrates, are valued at the lower o f cost, determined o n a 

"f irs t- in, first-out" basis, and net realizable value. Cos t includes direct labour and material costs, mine site overhead 

and depreciation and deplet ion o f capital assets. Supplies inventories are valued at the lower o f average cost o f 

acquisition and replacement cost. 

( B ) F O R W A R D , F U T U R E S A N D O P T I O N C O N T R A C T S : 

T h e C o m p a n y uses forward and op t ion contracts to hedge the effect o f exchange rate changes o n foreign currency 

exposures, and forward and opt ion contracts to hedge the effect o f pr ice changes o n a por t ion o f the metals it sells. 

Gains and losses o n these contracts are reported i n revenues as a component o f the related transactions. F r o m time 

to time, the C o m p a n y has entered into futures, options and forward contracts for the purchase or sale o f metals and 

currencies not designated as hedges. These contracts are carried at quoted market values and gains or losses arising 

from the changes i n the market values o f these contracts are recognized i n earnings i n the pe r iod i n w h i c h the 

changes occur. 

( F ) C A P I T A L A S S E T S : 

Property, plant and equipment and related capitalized development and preproduction expenditures are recorded 

at cost. Repai rs and maintenance expenditures are charged to operations; major betterments and replacements 

are capitalized. 

T h e C o m p a n y generally depreciates plant and equipment used i n m i n i n g operations o n a straight-line basis 

over the lesser o f their estimated useful lives and the lives o f the producing mines to w h i c h they relate. Smelt ing 

and other plant and equipment are depreciated o n a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

M i n e development costs incurred to maintain the current product ion o f operating mines are inc luded i n 

operating costs. M i n e development costs incurred to expand the capacity o f operating mines, to develop new ore 

bodies or to develop mine areas substantially i n advance o f current product ion are capitalized and charged to oper­

ations o n a uni t -of-product ion basis. 

M i n i n g costs associated w i t h waste rock removal at o p e n p i t mines are deferred and r ecogn ized i n 

operations based o n the average stripping ratio for each mine. T h e average stripping ratio is calculated as the tonnes 

o f material estimated to be m i n e d to the tonnes o f ore estimated to contain economica l ly recoverable metals. 

W h e r e the stripping ratio over the life o f the mine is relatively un i form, costs are generally expensed as incurred. 

F inancing costs, inc lud ing interest, are capitalized w h e n they arise from indebtedness incurred to finance 

the development, construction or expansion o f significant mineral properties and facilities. 

W h e n events or changes i n circumstances indicate that the carrying amount o f a capital asset w i l l not be 

recoverable, it is wr i t t en d o w n to its net recoverable amount based o n estimated future net cash flows. 

( G ) E X P L O R A T I O N : 

Explora t ion costs incurred to the date o f establishing that a property has reserves w h i c h have the potential o f being 

economical ly recoverable are charged against earnings. Further costs are generally capitalized and then amort ized 

as appropriate under the po l icy for capital assets described above. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

( H ) I N C O M E T A X E S : 

T h e C o m p a n y accounts for income taxes under the asset and l iabil i ty method. U n d e r this method, deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 

statement carrying value and tax basis o f assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income 

i n the years i n w h i c h those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. T h e effect o n deferred tax 

assets and liabilities o f a change i n tax rates is recognized i n income i n the per iod that includes the enactment date. 

(i) E N V I R O N M E N T A L A N D R E C L A M A T I O N C O S T S : 

O n g o i n g env i ronmenta l and reclamat ion costs are expensed as i ncu r red . Es t imated rec lamat ion costs to be 

incurred w h e n operations are closed are accrued and expensed over the lives o f the operations. 

( j ) U S E O F E S T I M A T E S : 

The preparation o f financial statements i n conformity w i t h generally accepted accounting principles requires manage­

ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts o f assets and liabilities and the disclosure o f 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date o f the financial statements and the reported amounts o f revenues and 

expenses dur ing the year. Ac tua l results cou ld differ from those estimates. 

( K ) E A R N I N G S ( L O S S ) P E R S H A R E : 

For 1998, loss per share is calculated based o n 106,085,764, being the weighted average number o f shares outstanding 

dur ing the year. For 1997 and 1996, earnings per share is calculated based o n 99,640,315 shares outstanding, being the 

number o f shares issued by the Company to acquire the min ing and metals businesses o f Trelleborg (note 1). 

3 . A c q u i s i t i o n of W e s t m i n R e s o u r c e s L i m i t e d : 

O n February 9, 1998, the C o m p a n y comple ted the acquisi t ion o f W e s t m i n Resources L i m i t e d ("Westmin") . 

T h e total cost o f the acquisi t ion, i n c l u d i n g expenses, was approximately $360 m i l l i o n and has been accounted 

for by the purchase m e t h o d effective January 1, 1998. T h e purchase cost has been allocated to the assets and 

liabilities acquired as follows: 

Cur ren t assets $ 76,014 

Non-cu r r en t assets 22,752 

Cap i t a l assets 699,825 

798,591 

Curren t liabilities 43,973 

Provis ion for reclamation costs 63,665 

Deferred taxes 43,484 

L o n g - t e r m debt 285,169 

O t h e r l o n g - t e r m l iabi l i t ies 1,600 

Total purchase cost $ 360,700 

C O N S I D E R A T I O N : 

C o m m o n shares $ 49,269 

Cash 3 n , 4 3 i 

$ 360,700 
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4 . I n v e n t o r i e s : 
Inventories consist o f the fol lowing: 

1998 1997 

In process 

Finished products 

Mater ia l s and supplies 

$ 70,132 

48,659 

57,970 

$ 69,584 

56,502 

41,984 

In process 

Finished products 

Mater ia l s and supplies 

$ 176,761 $ 168,070 

5 . C a p i t a l A s s e t s : 

1998 Cost 

Accumulated 

Depreciation 

Net Book 

Value 

M I N I N G I N T E R E S T S : 

Property acquisition and deferred mine costs 

Plant and equipment 

C o n s t r u c t i o n i n progress 

$ 773,377 

811,024 

5,054 

$ (138,583) 

(297,362) 

$ 634,794 

513,662 

5,054 

M I N I N G I N T E R E S T S : 

Property acquisition and deferred mine costs 

Plant and equipment 

C o n s t r u c t i o n i n progress 

1,589,455 (435,945) 1,153,510 

Smelters 

O the r property, plant and equipment 

O t h e r cons t ruc t ion i n progress 

490,878 

116,877 

5,694 

(317,944) 

(61,323) 

172,934 

55,554 

5,694 

Smelters 

O the r property, plant and equipment 

O t h e r cons t ruc t ion i n progress 

613,449 (379,267) 234,182 

$ 2,202,904 $ (815,212) $1,387,692 

1997 Cost 

Accumulated 

Depreciation 

Net Book 

Value 

M I N I N G I N T E R E S T S : 

Property acquisition and deferred mine costs 

Plant and equipment 

C o n s t r u c t i o n i n progress 

$ 278,263 

469,989 

893 

$ (124,662) 

(253,473) 

$ 153,601 

216,516 

893 

M I N I N G I N T E R E S T S : 

Property acquisition and deferred mine costs 

Plant and equipment 

C o n s t r u c t i o n i n progress 

749,145 (378,135) 371,010 

Smelters 

O the r property, plant and equipment 

O t h e r cons t ruc t ion i n progress 

430,762 

126,208 

6,098 

(294,862) 

(67,231) 

13 5,900 

58,977 

6,098 

Smelters 

O the r property, plant and equipment 

O t h e r cons t ruc t ion i n progress 

563,068 (362,093) 200,975 

$ 1,312,213 $ (740,228) $ 571,985 

Interest o n debt capitalized dur ing 1998 amounted to $17.4 m i l l i o n (1997 — nil) . 
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6 . J o i n t V e n t u r e s : 

A p o r t i o n o f the Company ' s activities is car r ied out th rough j o i n t venture arrangements. T h e results o f the 

Company's 50% interest i n N o r z i n k and 50% interest i n S C P M are proportionately consolidated i n the Company's 

financial statements. T h e Company's share o f the financial results o f these jo in t ventures is summarized as follows: 

1998 1997 

W o r k i n g capital 

Non-cu r r en t assets 

Non-cu r r en t liabilities 

$ 24,234 

44,281 

(7,355) 

$ 31,300 

43,532 

(9,738) 

N e t assets $ 61,160 $ 65,094 

1998 1997 1996 

Revenues 

Expenses 

N e t earnings 

$ 104,258 

99,022 

$ 128,544 

116,603 

$ 100,427 

90,304 

Revenues 

Expenses 

N e t earnings $ 5,236 $ n , 9 4 i $ 10,123 

Cash provided by operating activities $ 7,057 $ 13,027 $ 14,163 

Cash used i n financing activities $ (11,022) $ (412) $ (4,188) 

Cash used i n investing activities $ (4,250) $ (1,598) $ (3,475) 

7. Long-Term D e b t : 

L o n g - t e r m debt consists o f the fol lowing: 

1998 1997 

$300 m i l l i o n revolving credit facility (A) $ 273,161 % 

$230 m i l l i o n te rm loan facility (B) 230,000 -
$140 m i l l i o n Lomas Bayas facility (C) 140,000 -
S E K 250 m i l l i o n m e d i u m - t e r m bonds (D) 31,017 -
Other (note 9) 53,943 54,050 

Total long- te rm debt 728,121 54,050 

Less: amounts m a t u r i n g w i t h i n one year 12,950 833 

$ 715,171 $ 53,217 

( A ) $ 3 0 0 M I L L I O N R E V O L V I N G C R E D I T F A C I L I T Y : 

Pursuant to a revolving credit agreement w i t h an international banking syndicate the C o m p a n y may bor row up to 

$300 m i l l i o n , reduced by $60 m i l l i o n i n June 2002 and every six months thereafter. U n d e r the agreement, the 

C o m p a n y may bor row and repay amounts at any time and from time to t ime up to the credit Hmit, at a L I B O R 

based interest rate. A n y amounts outstanding under the faci l i ty are repayable i n ful l o n June 26, 2004. T h e 

C o m p a n y pays a standby fee o n the unused por t ion o f the credit facility. 
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( B ) $ 2 3 0 M I L L I O N T E R M L O A N F A C I L I T Y : 

Pursuant to a credit agreement w i t h an international banking syndicate the C o m p a n y may bor row up to $230 m i l ­

l i o n . U n d e r the agreement, the C o m p a n y may bor row and repay amounts at any t ime and from time to t ime up to 

the credit l imi t at a L I B O R based interest rate. A n y amounts outstanding under the facility are repayable i n full o n 

Ju ly 7, 2003. T h e C o m p a n y pays a standby fee o n the unused por t ion o f the credit facility. 

( C ) $ 1 4 0 M I L L I O N L O M A S B A Y A S F A C I L I T Y : 

T h e C o m p a n y is party to a secured loan agreement w i t h an international banking syndicate for $140 m i l l i o n used 

to finance a po r t ion o f the cost o f the Lomas Bayas Project at a L I B O R based interest rate. 

T h e l o a n is repayable i n 16 semi -annua l instal lments b e g i n n i n g o n June 30, 1999, r a n g i n g f r o m 

$5.6 m i l l i o n to $13.3 m i l l i o n . 

Repayment o f 5 0 % o f excess cash f low from Lomas Bayas is mandatory o n each pr incipal repayment date. 

This w i l l increase to 100% i f the Lomas Bayas Project fails to maintain certain financial ratios specified i n the loan 

agreement. Lomas Bayas is required to hedge its interest and copper price exposure and to maintain insurance. 

T h e C o m p a n y has entered into interest rate swaps w h i c h f ix the interest rate at 8.95% for approximately 

75% o f the outstanding loan balance. 

( D ) S W E D I S H K R O N E R ( " S E K " ) 2 5 O M I L L I O N M E D I U M - T E R M B O N D S : 

T h e C o m p a n y issued bonds i n the aggregate amount o f S E K 250 m i l l i o n (approximately US $ 3 1 m i l l i o n at 

December 31, 1998) at a S T I B O R (Stockholm I B O R ) based interest rate. T h e bonds mature o n September 3, 2006. 

( E ) $ 3 5 M I L L I O N R E V O L V I N G C R E D I T F A C I L I T Y . * 

T h e C o m p a n y has a credit agreement w i t h a Canadian bank pursuant to w h i c h it may bo r row up to $3 5 i n i l l i o n 

i n Canadian or U S dollars at floating interest rates. Amoun t s outstanding under the credit facility are repayable i n 

December 1999. T h e C o m p a n y pays a standby fee o n the unused por t ion o f the credit facility. T h e loan was fully 

ut i l ized after year-end. 

( F ) G E A R I N G R A T I O : 

U n d e r the terms o f the Company's bor rowing facilities under (A), (B), (D) and (E) above, the Company is required to 

maintain a Gear ing R a t i o (as defined i n the lending agreements) equal to or less than 1.25:1. A t December 31,1998, 

the Company's Gear ing R a t i o was 1.05:1. T h e Company's ability to continue to satisfy the Gear ing R a t i o require­

ment w i l l depend, among other things, o n the extent to w h i c h Righ t s (see note 16) are exercised, the prices o f the 

metals produced by the C o m p a n y (principally zinc and copper) and whether the C o m p a n y is required to wr i te 

d o w n the carrying value o f its investment i n any o f its material assets, inc lud ing the Los Frailes mine. 

( G ) P R I N C I P A L P A Y M E N T S O N L O N G - T E R M D E B T : 

Pr inc ipa l payments o n long- t e rm debt for the next five years are as follows: 

1999 $ 12,950 

2000 19,418 

2001 15,670 

2002 135,400 

2003 365,400 

Thereafter 179,283 

$ 728,121 
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8 . I n c o m e T a x e s : 
(A) T h e income tax provision consists o f the fo l lowing: 

1998 1997 1996 

Curren t % 7,783 % n , i 9 3 % 25,786 

Defe r r ed (recovery) (6,103) 20,296 130 

Total i n c o m e taxes $ 1,680 % 31,489 $ 25,916 

(B) T h e difference between the amount o f the reported consolidated income tax provision and the amount c o m ­

puted by mul t ip ly ing the earnings before income taxes by the applicable Swedish (being the pr inc ipal country i n 

w h i c h the C o m p a n y operates) tax rates o f 2 8 % is reconciled as follows: 

1998 1997 1996 

Income taxes computed using the 

Company's tax rates 

A D J U S T F O R : 

Income o f foreign subsidiaries taxed 

at higher (lower) effective tax rates 

Losses o f subsidiaries not tax benefited 

Non-deduc t ib le items 

P r i o r year taxes 

Income tax p rov is ion 

$ (20,722) 

(9,188) 

27,730 

2,012 

1,848 

$ 31,722 

(5,434) 

1,360 

2,073 

1,768 

$ 17,993 

98 

5 ,7 i2 

2,113 

Income taxes computed using the 

Company's tax rates 

A D J U S T F O R : 

Income o f foreign subsidiaries taxed 

at higher (lower) effective tax rates 

Losses o f subsidiaries not tax benefited 

Non-deduc t ib le items 

P r i o r year taxes 

Income tax p rov is ion $ 1,680 $ 31,489 $ 25,916 

(C) T h e tax effects o f temporary differences that give rise to significant por t i c 

liabilities at December 31,1998 and 1997 are as follows: 

ns o f the deferr 

1998 

sd tax assets and 

1997 

D E F E R R E D T A X A S S E T S : 

Capita l assets, pr incipal ly due to provisions 

taken for accounting purposes 

N e t operating loss carryforwards 

Financial instruments, pr incipal ly due to deferred 

revenue for financial reporting purposes 

Provisions and other allowances 

$ 18,326 

75,505 

1,254 

16,151 

$ 31,078 

26,886 

1,602 

2,772 

Total gross deferred tax assets 

Less va lua t ion a l lowance 

N e t deferred tax assets 

111,236 

(72,001) 

62,338 

(3i ,845) 

Total gross deferred tax assets 

Less va lua t ion a l lowance 

N e t deferred tax assets $ 39,235 $ 30,493 
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1998 1997 

D E F E R R E D T A X L I A B I L I T I E S : 

Excess depreciation taken for income tax 

over accounting purposes 

O t h e r 

Total gross deferred tax liabili t ies 

$ 77,667 

522 

$ 3 i , 4 9 6 

619 

D E F E R R E D T A X L I A B I L I T I E S : 

Excess depreciation taken for income tax 

over accounting purposes 

O t h e r 

Total gross deferred tax liabili t ies $ 78,189 $ 32,115 

N e t deferred tax l iab i l i ty $ 38,954 $ 1,622 

(D) A t December 31,1998, the C o m p a n y and subsidiaries inc luded i n these consolidated financial statements have 

$102 m i l l i o n o f available tax loss carryforwards w h i c h expire between the years 2001 and 2008, and $175.6 m i l l i o n 

o f available tax loss carryforwards w i t h no expiry date. Tax losses arising from intercompany transactions have not 

been recognized i n these consolidated financial statements. 

9 . R e t i r e m e n t P l a n s : 

T h e C o m p a n y maintains defined benefit plans p rov id ing pension, death and t e rmina t ion benefits for certain 

salaried and hour ly employees pr incipal ly i n Sweden, Norway, Canada and the U n i t e d K i n g d o m . Pension benefits 

are calculated based u p o n length o f service and final average earnings. A s permit ted by Swedish law, the C o m p a n y 

can choose to satisfy its pens ion obligations to Swedish employees either by par t ic ipat ing i n a government -

sponsored mul t i -employer plan (where pension benefits for employees are fully funded through group annuity 

contracts) or by mainta ining an unfunded defined benefit plan. T h e Company 's obligation, net o f unamort ized 

experience gains and losses, under the Swedish unfunded defined benefit plans o f $47.9 m i l l i o n (1997 - $47.7 m i l ­

l ion) is inc luded i n long- te rm debt. T h e N o r w e g i a n and U n i t e d K i n g d o m defined benefit plans are funded plans. 

T h e status o f the Company's defined benefit plans is as follows: 

1998 1997 

F U N D E D P L A N S : 

Plan assets, at market value $ 7 9 , o i o $ 7 i , 4 i 5 

Pro jec ted benefit obl igat ions (77,305) (68,321) 

1,705 3,094 

U n f u n d e d plans - projected benefit obligations $ (43,998) % (43,677) 

Discount rates used i n determining the projected benefit obligations for 1998 range from 6% to 7%. 
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10. S h a r e h o l d e r s ' E q u i t y : 

( A ) S H A R E H O L D E R S ' E Q U I T Y IS C O M P R I S E D O F T H E F O L L O W I N G : 

1998 1997 

C o m m o n shares $ 641,918 % 592,649 

Reta ined earnings (deficit) (31,283) 44,403 

F o r e i g n cur rency translation account 42,441 42,510 

Shareholders' equity $ 653,076 $ 679,562 

D u r i n g 1997, the C o m p a n y was incorporated and acquired, concurrent w i t h the closing o f its ini t ial public offer­

ing o n June 17,1997, the m i n i n g and metals businesses o f Trelleborg (note 1), i n exchange for 99,640,315 c o m m o n 

shares o f the Company. Accordingly , effective June 30,1997, the balance o f capital employed has been reclassified 

to c o m m o n shares and retained earnings have been accumulated from June 30,1997. T h e balance o f retained earn­

ings at December 31, 1998 represents earnings from July 1, 1997 through to December 31, 1998. 

Capital Common Shares Retained 

Employed Number Amount Earnings 

Balance, January 1, 1996 % 490,762 - $ 

N e t earnings 38,347 - - -
Repayments to parent (13,004) - - -

Transfer o f tax deductions from 

affiliated companies 14,754 - - -

Balance, December 31, 1996 530,859 _ _ _ 
N e t earnings, January 1, 1997 to 

June 30, 1997 37,401 - - -
Advances from parent 29,434 - - -

Transfer o f tax deductions from 

affiliated companies (5,045) - - -

Balance,June 30, 1997 592,649 _ _ _ 

Issue o f c o m m o n shares to 

Trelleborg (592,649) 99,640,315 592,649 -

N e t earnings, Ju ly 1, 1997 to 

December 31, 1997 - - 44,403 

Balance, December 31, 1997 99,640,315 592,649 44,403 

Shares issued o n acquisition o f Wes tmin - 7,376,290 49,269 -

N e t loss - - - (75,686) 

Balance, D e c e m b e r 31, 1998 $ 107,016,605 $ 641,918 $ (31,283) 

T h e Company's authorized capital consists o f an unl imi ted number o f preferred shares, issuable i n series, and an 

unl imi ted number o f c o m m o n shares. 

As at December 31,1998, no preferred shares and 107,016,605 c o m m o n shares were issued and outstanding. 
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( B ) S H A R E O P T I O N S : 

A s at December 31,1998,2,884,105 options to acquire c o m m o n shares were outstanding at exercise prices ranging 

from C d n $ 5 . i o to Cdn$i7 .93 o f w h i c h 865,000 options were he ld by directors and senior officers o f the C o m p a n y 

under the Company's stock opt ion plan and 2,019,105 options were held by former holders o f options to acquire 

c o m m o n shares o f Wes tmin Resources L i m i t e d under the Company's Wes tmin run-of f stock opt ion plan. A s at 

December 31,1998, none o f the outstanding options had been exercised. 

11. C o m m i t m e n t s a n d C o n t i n g e n c i e s : 

( A ) L O S F R A I L E S I N C I D E N T : 

O n A p r i l 25,1998, the tailings dam at the Los Frailes mine owned by the Company's subsidiary, B o l i d e n Apirsa SL 

("Apirsa"), failed, resulting i n the release o f tailings and tailings water into the local environment, and the tempo­

rary closure o f the mine . T h e C o m p a n y has taken a provis ion o f $42.5 m i l l i o n to cover Apirsa's estimated loss, 

net o f insurance proceeds, f rom the tailings dam failure. T h e provis ion has been established based u p o n current 

estimates o f costs, allocation o f Hability and insurance proceeds. There can be no assurance that the C o m p a n y w i l l 

not be required to further increase the provision. 

A p i r s a has appl ied for the l icences and permits required to resume m i n i n g and m i l l i n g operations at 

Los Frailes. Subject to receipt o f these licences and permits, and satisfactory assurances that i t w i l l receive the 

balance o f the subsidies o w i n g to it by the Spanish government i n connect ion w i t h the development o f the mine, 

Api r sa w i l l recommence m i n i n g and beg in development o f a revised l o n g - t e r m operating plan. T h e estimated 

mine life, wi thou t significant additional capital expenditures, is approximately two and one-half years. Assuming 

the recommencement o f min ing , a decision to invest the necessary capital to continue m i n i n g beyond the next 

two and one-half years is dependent u p o n the commodi ty price out look, the development o f a satisfactory revised 

long- te rm plan and a better defini t ion o f the potential l iabil i ty for damages caused by the tailings dam failure. 

T h e carrying value o f the Company's investment i n Los Frailes is approximately $165 m i l l i on . After consid­

eration o f the factors associated w i t h the future operations at Los Frailes as they presendy exist, the C o m p a n y has 

decided that it w o u l d not be appropriate to wri te d o w n the carrying value o f its investment i n the Los Frailes mine. 

T h e decision not to wr i te d o w n the carrying value o f the Company's investment i n the Los Frailes mine is 

based o n the assumption that Apirsa w i l l recommence m i n i n g and develop and implement a satisfactory revised 

l o n g - t e r m operat ing p lan at Los Frailes and that c o m m o d i t y prices w i l l be consistent w i t h the l o n g - t e r m 

c o m m o d i t y pr ice assumptions used by the C o m p a n y (zinc - $0.57 per pound , copper - $1.00 per p o u n d and 

lead — $0.28 per pound). There can be no assurance, however, that these assumptions are correct. I f these assump­

tions change, the C o m p a n y may be required to wr i te off all or part o f the carrying value o f its investment i n the 

Los Frailes mine, either dur ing 1999 or thereafter. 

It is possible that officers o f Api r sa w i l l have c r imina l charges la id against t hem i n connec t ion w i t h the 

tailings dam failure and be conv ic ted and fined and that they w i l l be he ld liable, i n w h o l e or i n part, for the 

damages suffered by third parties as a result o f the failure, inc lud ing the costs incurred by the Spanish governmen­

tal authorities i n cleaning up a po r t ion o f the area affected by the tailings dam failure. It is also possible that Apirsa 

w i l l have administrative charges laid against it i n connect ion w i t h the failure and be convicted and fined. It is also 

possible that Apirsa w i l l be held liable, i n w h o l e or i n part, for the damages suffered by third parties as a result o f 

the failure, inc lud ing the costs incurred by the Spanish governmental authorities i n cleaning up a por t ion o f the 

area affected by the tailings dam failure, either o n the basis o f strict l iabi l i ty or because a court concludes that 

Ap i r sa was negligent i n some way or is v icar ious ly responsible for any liabili t ies o f its officers. 
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There is a risk that one or more third parties w h o suffered damages as a result o f the failure cou ld c o m ­

mence an act ion against the C o m p a n y and one or more o f its subsidiaries as direct or indirect shareholders o f 

Apirsa alleging that they are not entitled to the l imi ted l iabil i ty protection provided to shareholders under Spanish 

corporate law based o n the theory o f "p ie rc ing the corporate v e i l " or similar legal theory. There is also a risk that 

such third parties cou ld be successful i n such an action and that the C o m p a n y and one or more o f its subsidiaries 

cou ld be he ld responsible for any liabilities o f Apirsa . 

( B ) L I T I G A T I O N : 

O n December 7, 1998, a statement o f c la im was fi led i n a class action commenced i n the Supreme C o u r t o f Br i t i sh 

C o l u m b i a o n behalf o f all persons w h o acquired c o m m o n shares o f the C o m p a n y pursuant to the Company 's 

in i t i a l pub l i c offer ing (note 1). T h e statement o f c l a im alleges that the prospectus used by the C o m p a n y i n 

connect ion w i t h the in i t ia l publ ic offering (the "Prospectus") contained misrepresentations w i t h respect to the 

construction, maintenance and structural integrity of, and seepage from, the tailings dam at the Los Frailes mine 

and that investors relied o n the misrepresentations and suffered damages as a result. T h e c la im is for unspecified 

amounts o f general, special and punitive and exemplary damages. 

T h e action is at a preUminary stage and no examinations for discovery have been conducted. Legal counsel 

to the C o m p a n y has advised that it is too early to f o r m an assessment o f the potential exposure, i f any, o f the 

C o m p a n y to l iabil i ty for the claims made against it i n the action. I f damages were awarded, the C o m p a n y intends 

to rely u p o n an indemni ty provided to it by Trelleborg at the t ime o f the ini t ia l public offering. 

In the underwr i t ing agreement entered into between Trelleborg, the C o m p a n y and Nesbit t Burns and the 

other underwriters o f the ini t ia l public offering (collectively, the "Underwr i te rs" ) , Trelleborg and the C o m p a n y 

j o i n t l y and severally agreed to protect and indemnify the Unde rwr i t e r s f rom and against all losses ( inc lud ing 

reasonable legal fees and disbursements) suffered by t hem and arising direct ly or ind i rec t ly by reason o f any 

informat ion or statement contained i n the Prospectus being or being alleged to be a misrepresentation. 

Pursuant to an indemni ty entered into by Trelleborg at the t ime o f the ini t ia l publ ic offering, Trelleborg 

agreed to indemnify the C o m p a n y from and against all losses inc lud ing reasonable legal fees and disbursements 

suffered by it and arising direcdy or indirecdy out o f any claim made against it arising out o f the initial public offering. 

T h e C o m p a n y believes that Tre l leborg A B current ly has the financial capacity to satisfy its obligations 

under its indemni ty i n favour o f the Company. There can be no assurance, however, that this w i l l be the case i f 

damages are awarded i n the future against the Company. 

( C ) E N V I R O N M E N T A L A N D R E C L A M A T I O N : 

A l l o f the Company's m i n i n g operations are subject to reclamation and closure requirements. M i n i m u m standards 

for mine reclamation have been established by various governmental agencies w h i c h affect certain operations o f 

the Company . A reserve for m i n e reclamation costs has been established for restoring certain abandoned and 

currently disturbed m i n i n g areas based u p o n estimates o f costs to c o m p l y w i t h existing reclamation standards. 

M i n e reclamation costs for operating properties are accrued using the uni t -of-product ion method. T h e estimated 

amount o f metals or minerals to be recovered from a mine site is based o n internal and external geological data and 

is reviewed by management o n a per iodic basis. Changes i n such estimated amounts w h i c h affect reclamation cost 

accrual rates are reflected o n a prospective basis. T h e Company's estimate o f its ultimate accrual for reclamation 

costs may change due to changes i n laws and regulations, and interpretations thereof, and changes i n cost estimates. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

( D ) U N C E R T A I N T Y D U E T O T H E Y E A R 2 0 0 0 I S S U E : 

T h e Year 2000 Issue arises because many computer ized systems use two digits rather than four to identify a year. 

Date-sensitive systems may recognize the year 2000 as 1900 or some other date, resulting i n errors w h e n informa­

t ion using year 2000 dates is processed. In addition, similar problems may arise i n some systems w h i c h use certain 

dates i n 1999 to represent something other than a date. T h e effects o f the Year 2000 Issue may be experienced 

before, o n or after January 1, 2000 and, i f not addressed, may have an impact o n operations and financial reporting 

ranging from m i n o r errors to significant systems failures w h i c h cou ld affect an entity's ability to conduct normal 

business operations. It is not possible to be certain that all aspects o f the Year 2000 Issue affecting the Company, 

inc lud ing those related to the efforts o f customers, suppliers and other third parties, w i l l be fully resolved. 

( E ) R O N N S K A R E X P A N S I O N : 

D u r i n g 1998 the C o m p a n y began an expansion o f the copper cathode capacity o f its R o n n s k a r smelter and 

refinery, expected to be completed by 2001. 

A t December 31,1998, the C o m p a n y had contractual commitments for a por t ion o f the cost o f the project, 

i n the amount o f approximately $90 m i l l i o n . 

12. I n t e r e s t a n d Other I n c o m e : 
Interest and other income (expenses), net, includes the fol lowing: 

1998 1997 1996 

Rea l i zed foreign exchange gain o n debt $ 12,700 $ % 

Interest income 6,280 2,525 i , i 9 7 

Interest i ncome o n balance due from Trelleborg - 638 2,644 

Other financial items - 335 412 

Interest expense (3,242) (50) (1,069) 

G a i n o n sale o f capital assets 1,732 382 -
G a i n (loss) o n commodi ty and 

other contract t rading activities (1,091) 1,841 1,043 

Total interest and other i n c o m e $ i 6 , 3 7 9 $ 5,671 $ 4,227 

13. R e l a t e d P a r t y T r a n s a c t i o n s : 

P r i o r to June 17,1997, certain expenses incurred by Trelleborg o n behalf of, and attributable to, the C o m p a n y were 

allocated to the C o m p a n y based o n the fair value o f the services performed. Al loca ted costs o f $629,000 i n 1997 

(1996 — $2,506,000) include management, accounting and other general corporate costs. 

T h e C o m p a n y has an agreement w i t h Trel leborg M e t e c h , Inc. ( "Metech" ) , pursuant to w h i c h M e t e c h 

sources and sells to the C o m p a n y at market rates secondary materials for processing at Ronnskar . T h e agree­

ment may be te rminated o n 12 months n o t i c e . T h e amount pa id to M e t e c h d u r i n g 1998 was $25.8 m i l l i o n 

(1997 - $27.4 mi l l ion) . 

Tre l leborg A B was the counterparty o n all foreign exchange hedg ing instruments entered in to by the 

C o m p a n y through M a r c h 31,1997. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

14. F i n a n c i a l I n s t r u m e n t s : 

( A ) F A I R V A L U E S O F F I N A N C I A L A S S E T S A N D F I N A N C I A L L I A B I L I T I E S : 

T h e car ry ing values o f cash and shor t - te rm investments, accounts and metals settlements receivable, accounts 

payable and accrued charges and short-term obligations approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities. 

T h e C o m p a n y holds cash and marketable short- term investments w h i c h are subject to various risks, such as 

interest rate, credit and liquidity. These risks are mitigated by restricting both the type and the te rm o f investments. 

T h e C o m p a n y deals w i t h highly rated counterparties to reduce credit risk. 

( B ) F O R E I G N E X C H A N G E E X P O S U R E M A N A G E M E N T : 

T h e C o m p a n y manages its exposure to changes i n foreign exchange rates through the use o f forward exchange 

contracts and put and call options to hedge certain future transactions and investments denominated i n foreign 

currencies. T h e C o m p a n y hedges a por t ion o f its anticipated but not yet commit ted foreign currency exposures 

w h e n such transactions are probable and the significant characteristics and expected terms are identified. 

Gains and losses resulting f rom the early te rminat ion o f currency hedge instruments relating to future 

transactions are deferred and recognized based o n the or ig inal maturities. As at December 31, 1998, the deferred 

gain relating to such amounts totalled $5.6 m i l l i o n (1997 - $12.9 mi l l ion) , all o f w h i c h w i l l be recognized i n 1999. 

A t December 31,1998, the Company's pr incipal currency hedge positions were as follows: 

Maturing in 1999 

$ Million Rate 

2000 

$ Million Rate 

2001 

$ Million Rate 

S W E D I S H K R O N O R : 

Forward sales 138 7.65 225 7.83 366 7.76 

Put options bought 24I 7-53 135 7-53 - -
C a l l options sold 24I 8.07 135 8.25 - -
N O R W E G I A N K R O N E R : 

Forward sales 43 6.93 44 7.46 15 7.72 

S P A N I S H P E S E T A S : 

Forward sales 52 146 67 148 12 I46 

Put options bought 40 140 22 140 - -
C a l l options sold 40 152 22 156 - -
C A N A D I A N D O L L A R S : 

Forward sales 48 1.40 64 1.50 - -
Put options bought 30 1.42 15 1.42 - -
C a l l options sold 30 1-47 15 1-45 - -

T h e fair value o f these cur rency contracts at D e c e m b e r 31, 1998 was an unreal ized loss o f $21.1 m i l l i o n 

(1997 - $29.4 mi l l ion) . 
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( C ) C O M M O D I T Y P R I C E E X P O S U R E M A N A G E M E N T : 

T h e C o m p a n y manages its exposure to changes i n commodi ty prices for its products through hedge transactions. 

Hedge transactions include forward sales contracts and put and call options. 

Gains and losses resulting from the sale or conversion o f commodi ty hedge instruments p r io r to maturi ty 

are deferred and recognized under the or iginal maturi ty terms o f the instruments. As at December 31, 1998, the 

deferred gain relating to such instruments was $3.9 m i l l i o n (1997 - $11.4 mi l l ion) , all o f w h i c h w i l l be recognized 

i n 1999. 

A s at December 31,1998, the Company's pr incipal commodi ty hedge positions were as follows: 

Maturing in 1999 2000 

Average Average 

Quantity Price Quantity Price 

S I L V E R : 

Forward sales 5,400,000 OZ % $.$4peroz 900,000 oz $ 5.68 per oz 

G O L D : 

Forward sales 8,038 OZ $ 468 per oz - % 

C O P P E R : 

Forward sales 13,800 tonnes $ 0.93 per lb - $ 

T h e fair value o f these commodi ty contracts at December 31,1998 was $14.5 m i l l i o n (1997 - $5.2 mi l l ion) . 

( D ) I N T E R E S T R A T E E X P O S U R E M A N A G E M E N T : 

T h e C o m p a n y manages its exposure to changes i n interest rates through periodical ly entering into interest rate 

swaps. T h e fair value o f interest rate swaps at December 31,1998 was an unrealized loss o f $4.3 m i l l i o n . 
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15. S e g m e n t e d D a t a : 

T h e C o m p a n y operates pr incipal ly i n three operating segments: min ing , smelting and fabrication o f copper and 

brass products: 

Mining Smelting Fabrication 

Corporate 

and Other 

Consolidation 

Adjustments Total 

YBAR E N D E D 

DECEMBER 3 I, 1998: 

Revenues $ 333,462 $ 628,124 $ 303,549 $ 22,212 $(233,710) $1,053,637 

Operat ing income (loss) (84,876) 25,624 12,234 (21,697) - (68,715) 

Depreciat ion, depletion 

and amortization 70,097 21,145 7,535 178 - 98,955 

Capita l employed 1,093,796 193,834 109,054 3,357 - 1,400,041 

Capital expenditures 174,546 49,420 11,421 276 - 235,663 

YEAR E N D E D 

DECEMBER 3 I, I997I 

Revenues 348,240 728,170 360,777 31,091 (266,293) 1,201,985 

Operat ing income (loss) 84,940 38,131 8,460 (19,568) (242) 111,721 

Depreciat ion, depletion 

and amortization 34,755 23,341 9,201 943 - 68,240 

Capita l employed 371,965 170,540 123,552 31,937 - 697,994 

Capital expenditures 112,288 3 1,622 4,782 937 - 149,629 

YEAR E N D E D 

DECEMBER 3 I, I996: 

Revenues 351,959 725,285 323,998 45,232 (183,756) 1,262,718 

Operat ing income (loss) 38,546 30,918 9,468 (13,439) (1,108) 64,385 

Depreciat ion, depletion 

and amortization 41,095 30,091 8,150 2,200 659 82,195 

Capital employed 332,985 188,510 122,233 39,597 - 683,325 

Capi t a l expenditures 91,374 19,845 4,317 2,726 - 118,262 

T h e C o m p a n y defines capital employed as capital assets and w o r k i n g capital excluding cash and certain interest 

bearing receivables and liabilities. Intersegment revenues pr incipal ly represent sales from the Company's operating 

mines to its smelters. 
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T h e carrying values o f the Company's capital assets, by country i n w h i c h the operation is located, are as follows: 

1998 1997 

C A P I T A L A S S E T S : 

C h i l e $ 619,362 % 

Sweden 394,690 361,358 

Spain 157,022 136,397 

Canada 140,456 280 

N o r w a y 24,622 25,585 

U n i t e d K i n g d o m 16,751 17,194 

B e l g i u m 15,558 n , 0 7 3 

Saudi Arabia 10,481 12 ,339 

Netherlands 8,442 7,430 

O t h e r 308 329 

$ 1,387,692 S 571,985 

T h e Company's revenues are derived from sales or iginat ing i n the fo l lowing countries: 

1998 1997 1996 

R E V E N U E S : 

Sweden % 559,204 % 746,320 $ 801,025 

N o r w a y 98,274 114,683 88,901 

U n i t e d K i n g d o m 94,492 110,994 H 2 , 5 3 7 

Netherlands 6 i , 9 4 3 68,018 54,645 

Canada 4 5 , 6 4 i - -
Spain 39,139 15,047 46,372 

Germany 32,276 37,566 38,793 

B e l g i u m 32,157 40,101 41,202 

Denmark 28,948 31,365 34,473 

C h i l e 24,569 - -
France 20,861 20,229 22,076 

Saudi Arabia 8,625 n , 7 3 9 16,033 

F i n l a n d 7,508 5,923 6,661 

$ 1,053,637 $ 1,201,985 $ 1,262,718 

Revenues from one customer o f the smelting segment represent approximately 15% (1997 — 18%, 1996 — 17%) o f 

the Company's total revenues. 
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16. S u b s e q u e n t E v e n t : 

T h e C o m p a n y has received a receipt for a short f o r m prospectus dated February 23, 1999 relating to a rights 

offering o f 8,918,050 5% cumulative convertible redeemable preferred shares. T h e rights expire o n M a r c h 29, 

1999. I f all the rights are exercised, the C o m p a n y w i l l realize net proceeds o f Cdn$223 m i l l i o n , before transaction 

costs. Trelleborg has agreed to exercise the rights issued to it pursuant to the rights offering and to subscribe for 

Cdn$95>5 m i l l i o n o f preferred shares. 

T h e f o l l o w i n g table sets for th the unaudi ted pro forma consolidated shareholders' equity o f the C o m p a n y as 

at December 31,1998, adjusted to reflect the issuance o f preferred shares pursuant to the rights offering; (i) assum­

i n g on ly the rights issued to Tre l leborg are exercised, and (ii) assuming all the rights issued are exercised: 

Preferred Shares Preferred Shares 

As of December 31, 1998 Issuable to Issuable if all 

after giving effect to: Trelleborg Rights Exercised 

Preferred shares $ 62,494 $ H 5 , 7 5 3 

C o m m o n shares 641,918 641,918 

Foreign currency translation account 42,441 42,441 

Reta ined deficit (31,283) (31,283) 

Total shareholders' equity $ 715,570 $ 798,829 



SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

O p e r a t i n g D a t a 

M I N I N G 

O P E R A T I O N S 

(Scandinavia) 

Ore Reserves at January i , 1999 

Proven & 

Probable Zinc Copper Lead Gold Silver 

(000s tonnes) {%) (%) {%) (g/t) (g/t) 

Mineral Resources at January 1, 1999 

Measured & 

Indicated 1 Zinc Copper Lead Gold Silver 

(000s tonnes) (%) (%) (%) (g/t) (g/t) 

Boliden Area 
Garpenberg 
Laisvall 
Ai t ik 

6,900 4.3 0.9 0.6 2.5 75 

5,700 4.1 0.1 2.0 0.2 119 

6,800 0.8 - 4.6 - 11 

228,000 - 0.37 - 0.2 3 

1,440 3.0 1.5 0.3 4 . I 58 

4,125 3 .I - 1.2 - 117 

3,350 1.2 - 2.0 - 9 

873,000 - O.27 - 0.2 2 

Subtotal 

M I N I N G 

O P E R A T I O N S 

(Americas & Other) 

Ore Reserves at January 1, 1999 

Proven & 

Probable Zinc Copper Lead Gold Silver 

(000s tonnes) (%) (%) (%) (g/t) (g/t) 

Mineral Resources at January 1, 1999 

Measured & 

Indicated 1 Zinc Copper Lead Gold Silver 

(ooos tonnes) (%) {%) (%) (g/t) (g/t) 

Los Frailes 
S C P M 3 

Myra Falls 
Lomas Bayas 

H L 
R O M 

Fortuna de Cobre 
Gibraltar 

43,000 3.7 0.3 2.1 - 58 

2,770 - - - 1.8 -

6,785 7-7 1-5 0.4 1.4 35 

196,500 - 0.46 - - -

238,000 - 0.21 - - -

30,000 3.6 O.3 2.2 - 60 

38,500 - - - I . I -
5,300 7.7 1.6 0.7 2 56 

370,500 - O.24 - - -

491,000 - 0.26 - - -

Subtotal 

Total 

S M E L T I N G 

O P E R A T I O N S 

Metal from Sources 

Zinc 

Copper Lead Zinc Clinker 

(000s tonnes) 

Metal Produced 

Z i n c Sulphur 

Copper Lead Zinc Cl inker Silver* G o l d * Products 

(000s tonnes/kilograms) 

Capital 

Expenditures 

(US$ millions) 

Ronnskar 
Bergsoe 
Norzink 

441.2 55.6 

- I l8.5 

- 208.1 37.4 

125.4 40.6 - 37.3 286.5 9-3 294.2 
- 46.7 - -

- 137.9 ~ ~ l 8 6 - 5 

44-9 
0.7 

3-9 

Total 441.2 I 7 4 . I 208.1 37.4 125.4 87.3 137.9 37-3 286.5 9-3 480.7 49-5 

* Gold and silver values are expressed in ounces, or kilograms. 

1 Does not include reserves. 

2 Net of by-product credits. 

3 Represents 100% of the ore reserves and mineral resources at SCPM. Boliden owns 5 0 % of SCPM. 

Ore R e s e r v e s 
a n d M i n e r a l R e s o u r c e s 

Boliden bases its definitions o f ore 
reserves and mineral resources on 
two sets of standards. The definition 
of mineral resource is from the 
Australasian Code for Reporting 
of Identified Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves. The definitions 
of proven and probable ore reserves 
are from National Policy N o . 2 - A 
published by the Canadian Securi­
ties Administrators and correspond 
to the definitions of proved and 
probable ore reserves in the 
Australasian Code. The following 
is an outline of those definitions. 

O R E R E S E R V E S are that part of 
mineral resources which can be 
mined legally and at a profit under 
economic conditions that are speci­
fied and are generally accepted as 
reasonable. Ore reserve estimates are 
established from mineral resource 
estimates only after consideration o f 
the economic, mining, metallurgical, 
marketing, legal, environmental, social 
and governmental factors relevant to 
mining the mineral resources. 

Ore reserves are categorized into one of the 
following two categories: 

Proven: Material for which tonnage 
is computed from dimensions 
revealed in outcrops or trenches 
or underground workings or dril l 
holes and for which the grade is 

computed from the results of adequate 
sampling, and for which the sites for 
inspection, sampling and measurement 
are so spaced and the geological char­
acter so well defined that the size, 
shape and mineral content are estab­
lished, and for which the computed 
tonnage and grade are judged to be 
accurate within stated limits. 

Probable: Material for which tonnage 
and grade are computed pardy from 
specific measurements, samples or 
production data, and partly from pro­
ject ion for a reasonable distance on 
geological evidence, and for which 
sites available for inspection, measure­
ment and sampling are too widely or 
otherwise inappropriately spaced to 
outline the material completely or 
to establish its grade throughout. 



M i l l Throughput 

1998 1997 

(000s tonnes) 

Head Grades 

Zinc Copper Lead Gold Silver 

(%) (%) (%) (g/t) (g/t) 

Contained Primary Metal Production 

Zinc Copper Lead G o l d * Silver* 

(000s tonnes /ounces) 

Cash 

Production Capital 

Costs 2 Expenditures 

(US$/lb/oz) (US$ millions) 

1,639 i , 5 3 4 

956 8 9 8 

1,955 1 , 8 7 9 

17,931 1 7 , 0 1 4 

3.7 0.8 0.5 1.9 58.0 

4.4 0.1 2.2 0.4 136.0 

0.6 - 4.2 - 9.7 

0.4 - 0.2 3.7 

50.5 i i . o 3.3 70.1 2,061.7 

37.0 0.8 16.6 10.8 3170.4 

8.3 - 72.3 - 506.8 
- 61.8 - 48.6 1,546.7 

0.33 18.2 

0.37 6.1 

0.24 1.8 

0.65 20.8 

22,481 2 1 , 3 2 5 95.8 73.6 92.2 129.5 7,285.6 46.9 

M i l l Throughput 

1998 1997 

(000s tonnes) 

Head Grades 

Zinc Copper Lead Gold Silver 

(%) i%) (%) (g/t) (g/t) 

Contained Primary Metal Production 

Zinc Copper Lead G o l d * Silver* 

(000s tonnes /ounces) 

Cash 

Production Capital 

Costs 2 Expenditures 

(US$/lb/oz) (US$ millions) 

1,100 1 , 5 1 8 

1,500 1 , 2 5 6 

1,047 1 , 2 5 7 

2,648 

12,394 1 3 , 0 2 9 

3.9 O.3 1.9 - 51.0 

- - - 1.4 -

5.5 1.7 - 1.6 22.9 

- 0.8 - - -

- 0.3 - - -

31.2 I . I 10.3 - 461.4 

- - - 44 . I 

51.8 15.5 - 21.6 502.0 

19.3 " 

33-9 -

16.6 

250 0.3 

O.42 7.6 

0.53 103.1 

O.69 -

18,689 1 7 , 0 6 0 83.0 69.8 10.3 65.7 963.4 127.6 

41,170 3 8 , 3 8 5 178.8 143.4 102.5 195.2 8,249.0 174.5 

A M I N E R A L R E S O U R C E is an 

identified in situ mineral occurrence 
from which valuable or useful miner­
als may be recovered. Mineral 
resource categories, which are used 
for exploration projects, are as follows: 

Measured: A mineral resource 
intersected and tested by drill holes, 
underground openings or other 
sampling procedures at locations 
which are spaced closely enough 
to confirm continuity and where 
geoscientific data are reliably known. 
A measured mineral resource is based 
on a substantial amount of reliable 
data, interpretation and evaluation 

of which allows a clear determination 
to be made of shapes, sizes, densities 
and grades. 

Indicated: A mineral resource 
sampled by drill holes, underground 
openings or other sampling proce­
dures at locations too widely spaced 
to ensure continuity but close enough 
to give a reasonable indication of 
continuity and where geoscientific 
data are known with a reasonable 
level of reliability. A n indicated 
resource estimate is based on more 
data, and therefore more reliable, 
than an inferred resource. 

Inferred: A mineral resource inferred 
from geoscientific evidence, drill 
holes, underground openings or other 
sampling procedures where the lack 
of data is such that continuity cannot 
be predicted with confidence and 
where geoscientific data are not 
known with a reasonable level o f 
reliability. 

Mineral resources have not yet been 
evaluated for technical or economic 
viability. 



GLOSSARY 

B Y - P R O D U C T C R E D I T S 

A l l revenues received from 

by-product metals. By-product 

revenues are received i n U n i t e d 

States dollars. 

C A S H P R O D U C T I O N C O S T S 

A l l production and transportation 

costs and all treatment and 

refining charges, translated where 

applicable from the local currency 

into U n i t e d States dollars at the 

average exchange rate, net o f 

by-product credits. The treatment 

and refining charges used by 

Bol iden to calculate cash 

production costs o n deliveries 

to Ronnskar and N o r z i n k are 

prevailing market charges. 

C O N C E N T R A T E 

A metal-rich product from a 

mineral separation process such 

as flotation, from w h i c h most 

o f the waste material i n the ore 

has been separated. The metals 

are "concentrated" from the ore 

and the remainder discarded 

as tailings. 

C O N C E N T R A T O R O R M I L L 

A plant where ore is ground 

and undergoes physical or 

chemical treatment to extract 

and produce a concentrate 

o f the valuable minerals. 

C O N T A I N E D P R I M A R Y 

M E T A L P R O D U C T I O N 

The zinc, copper, lead, gold and 

silver contained i n concentrates 

and gold dore. 

C O P P E R C A T H O D E 

Pure copper plate from a copper 

refinery or solvent extraction-

electrowinning (SX-EW) process. 

D R I F T 

A n underground tunnel driven 

alongside an ore deposit from a 

shaft or ramp to gain access to 

the deposit. 

F L O T A T I O N 

A mi l l ing process i n w h i c h some 

mineral particles are induced to 

become attached to bubbles o f 

froth and float, and others to sink, 

so that the valuable minerals are 

concentrated and separated from 

the worthless materials. 

G O L D D O R E 

A bar o f gold w h i c h contains 

impurities i n excess o f 2% and 

w h i c h w i l l be further refined 

to almost pure metal. 

G R A D E 

The amount o f valuable mineral 

i n each tonne o f ore, expressed 

as troy ounces or grams per 

tonne for precious metals and 

as a percentage for other metals. 

L E A C H I N G 

A process i n w h i c h metal is 

extracted from ore by repeatedly 

spraying the ore w i t h an acid 

solution w h i c h dissolves the 

metal content. The metal-laden 

solution is collected for further 

metal recovery. Heap leaching 

(HL) occurs on constructed l o w 

level heaps o f crushed ore built 

on sloping impermeable pads. 

Run-o f -mine (ROM) leaching 

occurs on uncrushed ore dumped 

by haulage trucks on sloping 

impermeable pads. 



O R E 

A natural aggregate o f one 

or more minerals wh ich , 

at a specified time and place, 

may be mined and sold at a 

profit, or from w h i c h some part 

may be profitably separated. 

O U N C E 

Troy ounce. 

R A M P 

A n inclined underground 

tunnel w h i c h provides access 

for exploration or a connection 

between levels o f a mine. 

R E C L A M A T I O N 

The process by w h i c h lands 

disturbed as a result o f min ing 

activity are brought back to a 

beneficial land use. Reclamat ion 

activity includes the removal 

o f building, equipment, machin­

ery and other physical remnants 

o f mining, closure o f tailings 

impoundments, leach pads 

and other mine features and 

contouring, covering and revege-

tation o f waste rock piles and 

other disturbed areas. 

R E C O V E R Y R A T E 

The percentage o f a particular 

metal contained i n ore that is 

recovered during processing. 

S H A F T 

A vertical or steeply incl ined 

passageway to an underground 

mine used for moving personnel, 

equipment, supplies and material, 

including ore and waste. 

S T R I P P I N G R A T I O 

The ratio o f the number 

o f tonnes o f waste material 

to the number o f tonnes o f 

ore removed. The term is 

used i n connection w i t h 

open pit mining . 

S X - E W ( S O L V E N T 

E X T R A C T I O N -

E L E C T R O W I N N I N G ) 

A process w h i c h takes copper-

bearing aqueous solutions 

(usually generated by heap 

leaching copper-bearing ores), 

purifies the solution by removing 

metals other than copper from 

the solution through the use 

o f organic solvents and then 

electroplates copper cathodes. 

T A I L I N G S 

The material that remains after 

all metals considered economic 

have been removed from ore 

during mi l l ing . 

Z I N C C L I N K E R 

Z i n c oxide w h i c h contains 

at least 65% zinc. 

M E T R I C T O I M P E R I A L 

C O N V E R S I O N T A B L E 

T h e imperial equivalents o f the 

metric units o f measurement 

used i n this report are as follows: 

1 gram = 0.03215 troy ounces 

1 hectare = 2.4711 acres 

1 ki logram = 2.20462 pounds 

1 kilometre = 0.62139 miles 

1 metre = 3.2808 feet 

1 tonne = 1.1023 short tons 



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

M A N D A T E O F T H E B O A R D 

T h e responsibili ty o f the board o f directors is to 

supervise the management o f the business and 

affairs o f the C o m p a n y and to act w i t h a v i e w 

to the Company ' s best interests. 

T h e board oversees and reviews significant 

corporate plans and initiatives, i n c l u d i n g the devel ­

opment and implementa t ion o f the annual business 

p lan and budget, major acquisitions and disposi­

tions, pub l ic communica t ions policies, senior 

management recrui tment , assessment and succes­

s ion process and, th rough the A u d i t C o m m i t t e e , 

in ternal con t ro l and management in fo rmat ion sys­

tems and systems to identify and manage p r inc ipa l 

business risks. 

T h e board he ld six meetings i n 1998. F ive 

meetings o f the board are scheduled for 1999. 

C O M P O S I T I O N O F T H E B O A R D 

T h e board o f directors is composed o f seven m e m ­

bers, five o f w h o m are free f rom any interest and 

any business o r other relationship w h i c h c o u l d 

material ly interfere w i t h a director's abil i ty to act 

w i t h a v i e w to the best interests o f the Company , 

other than interests and relationships arising 

f rom shareholding. 

S I G N I F I C A N T S H A R E H O L D E R 

Trel leborg A B , w h i c h owns indirect ly 45,859,444 

c o m m o n shares o f the Company , representing 

approximately 4 2 . 9 % o f the outstanding vo t ing 

securities o f the Company , is not a significant 

shareholder, (i.e., a shareholder w i t h the abil i ty 

to exercise a major i ty o f the votes for the elect ion 

o f the board o f directors). 

B O A R D C O M M I T T E E S 

T h e board o f directors has one commit tee , the 

A u d i t C o m m i t t e e , consisting o f three directors, 

all o f w h o m are free f rom any interest and any 

business or other relationship w h i c h c o u l d ma te r i ­

ally interfere w i t h a director's abil i ty to act w i t h a 

v i e w to the best interests o f the Company , other 

than interests and relationships arising f rom share­

ho ld ing . T h e A u d i t C o m m i t t e e had five meetings 

i n 1998. F ive meetings o f the A u d i t C o m m i t t e e are 

scheduled for 1999. 

T h e A u d i t C o m m i t t e e is responsible for over­

seeing the adequacy and effectiveness o f internal 

controls over the Company ' s account ing and 

financial repor t ing systems, r ev iewing the scope 

and terms and the results o f external audits o f the 

C o m p a n y and m o n i t o r i n g the actions taken by 

management w i t h respect to any significant r e c o m ­

mendations made by the Company 's external 

auditor. T h e commit tee also reviews the Company ' s 

quarterly and annual f inancial statements before 

they are submit ted to the board o f directors. 



T h e commit tee maintains direct communica t ions 

w i t h the Company ' s external auditor and the 

Company ' s senior officers responsible for account­

i n g and financial matters. 

I N D E P E N D E N C E F R O M M A N A G E M E N T 

M r . Telmer, w h o is the C h a i r o f the board o f 

directors, is not an executive officer o f the 

Company . 

D E C I S I O N S R E Q U I R I N G B O A R D 

A P P R O V A L 

In addi t ion to those matters w h i c h must by l aw 

be approved by the board o f directors, the board 

oversees and reviews significant corporate plans 

and initiatives, i n c l u d i n g the annual business p lan 

and budget, major acquisitions and dispositions 

and other significant matters o f corporate 

strategy or pol icy. 

S H A R E H O L D E R F E E D B A C K 

T h e board o f directors considers that management 

should speak for the C o m p a n y i n its c o m m u n i c a ­

tions w i t h shareholders and the investment 

c o m m u n i t y i n the context o f shareholder and 

investor and publ ic relations programs reviewed 

and approved by the board. 

T h e C o m p a n y conducts an active share­

holder and investor relations program, under 

the d i rec t ion o f the Company ' s V i c e President, 

Investor and P u b l i c Re la t ions . T h e program 

involves receiving and responding to shareholder 

inquir ies , b r ie f ing analysts and fund managers 

w i t h respect to reported financial results and 

other announcements by the Company , as w e l l as 

meet ing w i t h i nd iv idua l investors and other stake­

holders. T h e board reviews the Company ' s major 

communica t ions w i t h shareholders and the publ ic , 

i n c l u d i n g financial results releases and the annual 

report and management in fo rmat ion circular. 

E X P E C T A T I O N S O F M A N A G E M E N T 

T h e board o f directors believes that management 

is responsible for the development o f l o n g - t e r m 

strategies for the C o m p a n y and that the role 

o f the board is to review, quest ion, validate and 

ul t imately approve the strategies proposed by 

management. T h e board's expectations o f m a n ­

agement are developed and c o m m u n i c a t e d 

d u r i n g the annual strategic p l ann ing and budget­

i n g process and also d u r i n g regular board and 

commi t t ee meetings, where members o f senior 

management r ev iew and advise the board o n the 

Company ' s progress and o n strategic, operat ional 

and financial matters affecting the C o m p a n y . 



DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

D i r e c t o r s 

C A R L A M E L N 

o f Lindingo, Sweden, 

is President o f 

Luossavaara-Kiirunavaara 

A L E X B A L O G H 

o f Oakvi l le , Ontar io, 

is a Corporate Director 

A N D E R S B U L O W * 

o f Mississauga, Ontario, 

is President and C h i e f 

Executive Officer 

o f Bo l iden L imi t ed 

R O B E R T M C D E R M O T T 

o f Toronto, Ontario, 

is a Partner 

at M c M i l l a n B i n c h 

L A R S O L O F N I L S S O N 

o f Saltsjobaden, 

Sweden, is Senior 

V i c e President and 

Group Treasurer o f 

Trelleborg A B 

R O B E R T S T O N E 

o f Vancouver, Br i t i sh 

Columbia , is a Corporate 

Director and Consultant 

F R E D E R I C K T E L M E R 

o f Burl ington, Ontario, 

is a Corporate Director 

O f f i c e r s 

F R E D E R I C K T E L M E R 

Chai r o f the Board 

o f Directors 

A N D E R S B U L O W 

President and 

C h i e f Executive Officer 

T H O M A S C E D E R B O R G 

Senior V i c e President, 

Smelting Operations 

K E N N E T H S T O W E 

Senior V i c e President, 

M i n i n g Operations 

J A N P E T T E R T R A A H O L T 

Senior V i c e President, 

Finance and Administrat ion 

and C h i e f Financial Officer 

T H O M A S A T K I N S 

V i c e President, 

Investor and Public Relations 

W I L L I A M F I S H E R 

V i c e President, 

Explorat ion 

A N D E R S H A K E R 

Treasurer and Control ler 

S T A F F A N J A H K E L 

V i c e President, 

Technology Sales 

B E N G T - O L O F J O H A N S S O N 

V i c e President, 

Fabrication 

L A R S - A K E L I N D A H L 

V i c e President, 

Environmental Affairs 

R O B E R T M C D E R M O T T 

Secretary 

K A R L - A X E L W A P L A N 

V i c e President, 

Market ing and Sales 

* Mr . Biilow was appointed to the 

board of directors on March 9, 

1999 to replace Kjell Nilsson. 

Mr . Nilsson resigned from the 

board of directors on February 1, 

1999 following his resignation as 

President and Chief Executive 

Officer of Trelleborg A B . 



OPERATING LOCATIONS 

C o r p o r a t e 

B O L I D E N L I M I T E D 

181 Bay Street, P.O. B o x 848 

Bay Well ington Tower 

Suite 1500 

Toronto, Ontar io 

Canada M5J 2T3 

Tel 416 364-2727 

Fax 416 364-5484 

B O L I D E N M I N E R A L A B 

PO B o x 21024 

SE-100 31 S tockholm 

Sweden 

Tel 46 8 610 15 00 

Fax 46 8 31 55 45 

Environmental Affairs 

Fax 46 8 32 63 52 

Legal Department 

Fax 46 8 31 55 45 

Marketing & Sales 

Fax 46 8 736 07 01 

B O L I D E N T R E A S U R Y A B 

PO B o x 21024 

SE-100 31 S tockholm 

Sweden 

Tel. 46 8 610 15 00 

Fax 46 8 30 65 28 

M i n i n g 

B O L I D E N M I N E R A L A B 

SE-936 81 Bo l iden 

Sweden 

Tel 46 910 77 40 00 

Fax 46 910 77 41 10 

B O L I D E N A P I R S A , S . L . 

Carretera de Gerena s/n 

E-418 70 Aznalcollar 

(Sevilla) Spain 

Tel 34 5 413 30 06 

Fax 34 5 413 30 20 

B O L I D E N W E S T M I N 

( C A N A D A ) L I M I T E D 

904-1055 Dunsmuir Street 

P.O. B o x 49066 

The Bentall Centre 

Vancouver, Br i t i sh C o l u m b i a 

Canada V 7 X 1C4 

Tel 604681-2253 

Fax 604 681-0357 

S A U D I C O M P A N Y F O R 

P R E C I O U S M E T A L S L T D . 

P . O . B o x 12948 

SA-21483 Jeddah 

Saudi Arabia 

Tel 966 2 667 51 04 

Fax 966 2 660 25 61 

S m e l t i n g 

B O L I D E N M I N E R A L A B 

Ronnskarsverken 

SE-932 81 Skelleftehamn 

Sweden 

Tel 46 910 773 000 

Fax 46 910 773 215 

B O L I D E N B E R G S 6 E A B 

B o x 132 

SE-261 22 Landskrona 

Sweden 

Tel 46 418 572 00 

Fax 46 418 572 05 

N O R Z I N K A S 

Ei t rhe im 

N-5750 Odda 

Norway 

Tel 47 53 64 91 00 

Fax 47 53 64 33 77 

A R V . A N D E R S S O N , A B 

B o x 785 

SE-931 27 Skelleftea 

Sweden 

Tel 46 910 711 770 

Fax 46 910 711 776 

F a b r i c a t i o n 

B O L I D E N L D M 

N E D E R L A N D B V 

Postbus 42 

NL-5150 A A D r u n e n 

Netherlands 

Tel 31 416 38 99 11 

Fax 31 416 37 86 55 

B O L I D E N C U I V R E 

& Z I N C ( L I E G E ) S A 

R u e du Fourneau, 43 

B-4030 Grivegnee (Liege) 

B e l g i u m 

Tel 32 43 49 98 98 

Fax 32 43 49 98 99 

B O L I D E N M K M L T D . 

Middlemore Lane 

Aldr idge 

WS9 8 D N 

Walsall, West Midlands 

England 

Tel 44 1922 74 33 21 

Fax 44 1922 534 84 

B O L I D E N G U S U M A B 

SE-610 40 Gusum 

Sweden 

Tel 46 123 541 00 

Fax 46 123 201 25 

C o n t e c h 

B O L I D E N C O N T E C H A 

B o x 21024 

SE-100 31 S tockholm 

Sweden 

Tel 46 8 610 15 00 

Fax 46 8 34 80 97 



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

S T O C K E X C H A N G E 

L I S T I N G S 

Toronto Stock Exchange 

Montrea l Exchange 

T I C K E R S Y M B O L 

BOL 

T R A N S F E R A G E N T 

Montrea l Trust Company 

Corporate Services 

151 Front Street West 

Toronto, Ontar io 

M 5 J 2 N 1 

A U D I T O R S 

K P M G LLP 

Toronto, Ontar io 

D I V I D E N D P O L I C Y 

The Company does not currently 

declare a dividend. Earnings are 

directed toward profitable oppor­

tunities w i th in its business areas. 

The Board o f Directors reviews 

the Company's dividend pol icy 

o n an ongoing basis. 

A N N U A L M E E T I N G 

T h e annual shareholders' meeting 

w i l l be held M a y 10,1999, at the 

Design Exchange, 234 Bay Street, 

Toron to -Domin ion Centre, 

Toronto, Canada, at 10 a.m. 

S H A R E H O L D E R I N Q U I R I E S 

For information regarding share 

certificates, stock transfers, etc., 

please contact: 

Montrea l Trust Company 

Telephone (416) 981-6933 

Fax (416) 981-6800 

G E N E R A L I N Q U I R I E S 

Investor Relations 

Telephone (416) 364-2727 

Fax (416) 364-5484 

E-mai l : info@boliden.ca 

I N T E R N E T 

Information about Bo l iden 

is available on the Internet at 

http:/ / www.boliden.ca 

mailto:info@boliden.ca
http://www.boliden.ca


S t r a t e g i c Design C o n s u l t a n t s ; Tudhope A s s o c i a t e s Inc. 
E d i t o r i a l S e r v i c e s : Blunn and Company Inc. 

P r i n t e d in Canada 
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